

LUND UNIVERSITY

Detection and quantification of lipid-mediated siRNA delivery to the cytosol

Hedlund, Hampus

2023

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Hedlund, H. (2023). Detection and quantification of lipid-mediated siRNA delivery to the cytosol. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors

and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Detection and quantification of lipid-mediated siRNA delivery to the cytosol

HAMPUS HEDLUND DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES, LUND | LUND UNIVERSITY



Detection and quantification of lipid-mediated siRNA delivery to the cytosol

Detection and quantification of lipidmediated siRNA delivery to the cytosol

Hampus Hedlund



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University to be publicly defended on January 12th, 2024 at 09.15 in Belfragesalen, BMC D15 Klinikgatan 32, Lund, Sweden

> Faculty opponent Samir El Andaloussi, PhD Professor of Biomolecular Medicine & Advanced Therapy Department of Laboratory Medicine Karolinska Institutet, Sweden

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Clinical Sciences, Division Oncology, Lund

Document name: Doctoral dissertation Date of issue 2023-12-19

Author(s): Hampus Hedlund

Sponsoring organization: NA

Title and subtitle: Detection and quantification of lipid-mediated siRNA delivery to the cytosol

Abstract:

Cancer is one of the leading causes of death globally. Novel therapeutics is urgently needed to advance treatment, especially for generalized disease where current treatment options have a poor prognosis. In particular, targeted therapy that can address genetic changes would be of great value.

RNA interference is an evolutionary conserved gene regulatory mechanism that can be used by introducing exogenous synthetic double-stranded RNAs, so called small interfering RNA (siRNA). siRNAs are sequence-specific inhibitors that are easily designed and could in theory target any gene of interest, making siRNA a promising modality for targeted therapy. However, a key challenge in translating siRNA into the clinic is the inefficacy to deliver siRNA across the plasma membrane, but most importantly, to escape the endosomal system and reach the cytosol where they can interact with the RNA interference machinery. Multiple delivery strategies have been proposed to improve delivery to the cytosol, but because of a lack of methods to accurately quantify this step, the efficacy of current delivery strategies is unknown and the scope for improvement is thus unclear.

The aim of this thesis was to develop novel methods to study the process of endosomal escape and cytosolic delivery of RNA. In particular, advanced high resolution microscopy techniques have been used to in detail characterize and determine the efficacy of lipid mediated delivery of RNA. With these methods, single-cell knockdown kinetics of cytosol delivered siRNA is determined, and the dose-response correlation between knockdown and intracellular siRNA concentration is elucidated. In a second study, endosomal structures damaged by membrane-destabilizing substances are characterized and their potential improvements on cholesterol conjugated siRNA delivery. Lastly, several mechanistic barriers limiting the lipid nanoparticle delivery of siRNA and mRNA are identified.

This thesis advances our understanding on the limiting step of endosomal escape and cytosolic entry of RNA during lipid-based delivery. The tools and knowledge presented in this work will contribute to the development of future delivery strategies aimed at enhancing the effectiveness of siRNA and other nucleic acid-based therapeutics.

Key words: RNA interference; RNA therapeutics; endosomal escape; lipid mediated delivery; live-cell imaging

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)Supplementary bibliographical information

Language: English

ISSN and key title: 1652-8220

ISBN: 978-91-8021-497-1

Recipient's notes

Price

Number of pages: 78

Security classification

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Hanyus Hedlund

Date 2023-11-28

Detection and quantification of lipid-mediated siRNA delivery to the cytosol

Hampus Hedlund



Coverphoto by Hampus Hedlund Copyright pp 1-78 Hampus Hedlund

Paper 1 © 2020 Nature Communications (Open Access) Paper 2 © 2023 Nature Communications (Open Access) Paper 3 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished) Paper 4 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund

ISBN 978-91-8021-497-1 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2023



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN 📲

"IT'S A TRAP!" – Admiral Ackbar



Table of Contents

Abstract 1	10
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning1	11
List of original papers1	12
Abbreviations 1	13
Introduction	17
RNA interference1	19
The RNAi pathway2	20
miRNA pre-processing in the nucleus2	20
RISC assembly in the cytoplasm2	20
RNA interference by RISC2	21
RNA-based therapy2	23
Antisense oligonucleotides (ASOs)	25
Occupancy-mediated degradation2	25
Occupancy-only mechanism2	25
Small interfering RNAs (siRNAs)	26
Trigger motifs and sequence selection	27
As a therapeutic	28
MicroRNAs (miRNAs)	28
Messenger RNAs (mRNAs)2	29
Barriers for RNA therapeutics and strategies to overcome them	31
Barriers	31
Chemical modifications	33
Backbone modification	33
Ribose modification	34
Base modification	34
Delivery strategies	34
Delivery	35
Lipid nanoparticles	37
Bioconjugates	40
Dose-response of RNA therapeutics	43

Present investigation	47
Aim	47
Methods	47
Fluorescent compounds	48
The study of endosomal release using widefield imaging	49
The study of single-cell dose-response using confocal imaging	51
The study of intracellular dose-response using RT-qPCR	53
Results	54
Paper I – Imaging small molecule-induced endosomal escape of siRNA	54
Paper II – Single-cell quantification and dose-response of cytosolic	57
delivery	55
Paper III – Live-cell imaging of cytosolic RNA delivery with lipid nanoparticles reveals cellular and biophysical barriers	56
Paper IV – Intracellular dose-response determination of siRNA by	
two-tailed RT-PCR of electroporated cells	57
Conclusions and discussion	58
Future perspectives	62
Acknowledgments	63
References	65

Abstract

Cancer is one of the leading causes of death globally. Novel therapeutics is urgently needed to advance treatment, especially for generalized disease where current treatment options have a poor prognosis. In particular, targeted therapy that can address genetic changes would be of great value.

RNA interference is an evolutionary conserved gene regulatory mechanism that can be used by introducing exogenous synthetic double-stranded RNAs, so called small interfering RNA (siRNA). siRNAs are sequence-specific inhibitors that are easily designed and could in theory target any gene of interest, making siRNA a promising modality for targeted therapy. However, a key challenge in translating siRNA into the clinic is the inefficacy to deliver siRNA across the plasma membrane, but most importantly, to escape the endosomal system and reach the cytosol where they can interact with the RNA interference machinery. Multiple delivery strategies have been proposed to improve delivery to the cytosol, but because of a lack of methods to accurately quantify this step, the efficacy of current delivery strategies is unknown and the scope for improvement is thus unclear.

The aim of this thesis was to develop novel methods to study the process of endosomal escape and cytosolic delivery of RNA. In particular, advanced high resolution microscopy techniques have been used to in detail characterize and determine the efficacy of lipid mediated delivery of RNA. With these methods, single-cell knockdown kinetics of cytosol delivered siRNA is determined, and the dose-response correlation between knockdown and intracellular siRNA concentration is elucidated. In a second study, endosomal structures damaged by membrane-destabilizing substances are characterized and their potential improvements on cholesterol conjugated siRNA delivery. Lastly, several mechanistic barriers limiting the lipid nanoparticle delivery of siRNA and mRNA are identified.

This thesis advances our understanding on the limiting step of endosomal escape and cytosolic entry of RNA during lipid-based delivery. The tools and knowledge presented in this work will contribute to the development of future delivery strategies aimed at enhancing the effectiveness of siRNA and other nucleic acidbased therapeutics.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Cancer är en ledande dödsorsak globalt och vid generaliserad sjukdom saknas idag ofta effektiva och tolerabla behandlingar. Nya behandlingsstrategier, särskilt målinriktade behandlingar med möjlighet att adressera specifika genetiska förändringar vore således av stort värde.

RNA interferens evolutionärt (RNAi) är en konserverad cellulär regleringsmekanism där endogent kodade korta dubbelsträngade RNA molekyler, s.k. microRNA (miRNA) kan nedreglera och finjustera uttrycksnivån av komplementära gener. Inom preklinisk forskning har RNAi kunnat utnyttjas som ett verktyg för att stänga av specifika gener genom att introducera syntetiska korta dubbelsträngade RNA molekyler, s.k. small interfering RNA (siRNA). siRNA är sekvensspecifika inhibitorer som är enkla att designa och kan praktiskt taget nedreglera vilken gen som helst (s.k. knockdown). Ur ett terapeutiskt perspektiv gör detta siRNA till idealiska målinriktade cancerläkemedel.

Sedan upptäckten av RNAi har omfattande forskning fokuserat på att omsätta denna mekanism för terapeutiska ändamål. Kemiska modifikationer har utformats för att avancerade förstärka siRNA mot kroppens försvarsmekanismer och leveransstrategier har utvecklats för att kunna leverera siRNA in i målceller. Detta har lett till fem godkända siRNA läkemedel som behandlar olika sjukdomar i levern. Trots stora framsteg inom fältet kvarstår två betydande hinder – leverans till andra vävnader än levern samt förbättrad intracellulär leverans till målcellerna, ut i cytosolen där RNAi verkar. Endast en ytterst liten fraktion av det siRNA som tas upp av målcellerna når cytosolen medan det resterande läkemedlet begränsas av cellens endosomala system. Utrymmet för effektivisering är således stort.

I den här avhandlingen har metoder utvecklats för att karakterisera och bestämma effektiviteten av lipidbaserade RNA-leveransstrategier med målet att skapa ökad förståelse för lipidleverans av RNA och således förbättra förutsättningarna för att utveckla effektivare leveransstrategier till cytosolen. Dessa metoder har framförallt baserats på avancerad fluorescens-mikroskopi där individuella celler filmas över tid, s.k. live-cell imaging, vilket möjliggör detaljerad undersökning av det endosomala utträdet av RNA samt cytosolär leverans av RNA.

Med dessa metoder har vi bl.a. kunnat bestämma singelcellkinetik vid siRNA medierad knockdown och särskilt kunnat bestämma dos-responskorrelationen mellan biologisk aktivitet av siRNA (knockdown) och intracellulär siRNA koncentration, som tidigare varit oklart. Vi har även kunnat karakterisera endosmala strukturer som destabiliseras av membrandestabliserande substanser m.h.a. fluoroscerande markörer och membranskademarkörer, samt studera dess effekt på siRNA leverans med kolesterol. Slutligen har vi kunnat identifiera flertalet mekanistiska barriärer som begränsar lipidnanopartikel-leverans av siRNA och mRNA.

List of original papers

The thesis is based on the following papers and referred by their roman numerals indicated below:

- I. Imaging small molecule-induced endosomal escape of siRNA H. Du Rietz, H. Hedlund, S. Wilhelmson, P. Nordenfelt & A. Wittrup *Nature Communications* 2020 Vol. 11 Issue 1 Pages 1809
- II. Single-cell quantification and dose-response of cytosolic siRNA delivery
 H. Hedlund, H. Du Rietz, J. M. Johansson, H. C. Eriksson, W. Zedan, L. Huang, J. Wallin & A. Wittrup
 Nature Communications 2023 Vol. 14 Issue 1 Pages 1075
- III. Live-cell imaging of cytosolic RNA delivery with lipid nanoparticles reveals cellular and biophysical barriers
 J. M. Johansson*, H. Du Rietz*, H. Hedlund*, H. C. Eriksson, E. Oude Blenke, A. Pote, S. Harun, P. Nordenfelt, L. Lindfors & A. Wittrup.
 Shared first authorship* Manuscript unpublished
- IV. Intracellular dose-response determination of siRNA by two-tailed RT-PCR of electroporated cells H. Hedlund, J. M. Johansson, H. Du Rietz & A. Wittrup Manuscript unpublished

Abbreviations

2'-deoxy-2'-fluoro
2'-hydroxyl
2'-O-methyl
ASOs that inhibit miRNA function
Argonaute
Apolipoprotein
Asialoglycoprotein receptor
Antisense oligonucleotide
Adenine uracil content
Base pair
Complementary DNA
Cluster of differentiation 63
Cholesterol-siRNA confocal laser scanning microscopy
Confocal laser scanning microscopy
Cyclooxygenase enzyme
Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat
DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 8
Double-stranded
dsRNA-binding protein
Double-stranded RNA
Early endosome 1
Enhanced green fluorescent protein
Endosomal sorting complex required for transport
Extracellular vesicle fluorescence correlation spectroscopy
Fluorescence correlation spectroscopy
Field of view
N-acetylgalactosamine
Gallium arsenide phosphide

GC-content	Guanine cytosine content
hATTR	Hereditary transthyretin-mediated amyloidosis
IC ₅₀	Half-maximal inhibitory concentration 50
IFN-α	Interferon-a
IL-6	Interleukin-6
KRAS	Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene
LAMP1	Lysosomal associated membrane protein 1
LDLR	Low-density lipoprotein receptor
LNP	Lipid nanoparticle
ncRNA	Non-coding RNA
nt	Nucleotide
NSAID	Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
MC3	Dlin-MC3-DMA
MID	Middle domain
MIP	Maximum intensity projection
miRNA	microRNA
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MYC	Myelocytomatosis oncogene
PAZ	Piwi-Argonaute-Zwille domain
PEG	Lipid-anchored polyethylene glycol construct
pri-miRNA	Primary miRNA
PS	Phosphorothioate linkage
PSF	Point spread function
Rab	Ras-related in brain
RES	Reticuloendothelial system
RISC	RNA induced silencing complex
RLC	RISC-loading complex
RNA	Ribonucleic acid

RNAi	RNA interference
RNase	Ribonuclease
ROI	Region of interest
SARS-CoV-2	Ribonuclease servere acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
SMA	Spinal muscular atrophi
SMN	Survival motor neuron
SS	Single stranded
TIE	Translation inhibitory element
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNFα	Tumour necrosis factor alpha
TRBP	TAR RNA-binding protein
TTR	Transthyretin gene
uORF	Upstream open reading frame
UTR	Untranslated region
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor yellow fluorescent protein
YFP	Yellow fluorescent protein

Introduction

Cancer is globally one of the most lethal diseases today and accounts for almost ten million deaths yearly. It is generally described as uncontrolled growth and spread of abnormal cells to nearby tissues. If not contained or treated, these cells could potentially reach other parts of the body in a process called metastasis. Upon cell division, the genetic information is replicated and incorrections are normally restored by DNA repair pathways. However, in rare occasions such incorrections could slip through the system and result in mutated daughter cells. If such mutations occur in genes that are responsible for *e.g.* cell growth, proliferation or survival, there is a risk that these cells become unresponsive to natural signals and regulatory mechanisms; making them abnormal or cancerous¹.

Cancer is more accurately described as a group of diseases and include possibly thousands of different types, each with their own characteristics. Thus, there is no universal cure for a disease with such heterogeneity. However, many of the available treatments have successfully cured a wide range of malignancies, and some of which had previously been considered fatal have a significantly improved prognosis today. For instance, Hodgkin lymphoma was once a life-threatening disease, but because of effective chemotherapy regimens and radiation therapy, many patients have good long-term survival prospects².

Today, first line treatment is usually a combination of surgery, chemotherapy and radiation therapy. These options are generally effective for early-stage cancers, but for generalized disease they usually result in poor curative outcome. Surgery can be used for palliative treatment but it is often not possible to remove all metastatic sites. Chemotherapy and radiation therapy may have some success in shrinking the tumors and possibly extend survival, but their lack in specificity limits their therapeutic potential. Targeted therapies such as tyrosine kinase inhibitors or immunotherapies have shown great promise^{3, 4}, but additional avenues should be investigated for highly specific and personalized treatments.

RNA-based therapy is a research field that have received a lot of attention the last couple of years. Since the COVID-19 pandemic with worldwide repercussions, the first ever approved RNA-based vaccine was developed and administered to billions of people⁵. Just a couple of months after isolating the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) spike trimer that would become the translated antigen-product of the messenger RNA (mRNA), the RNA vaccine was

established and clinical studies were initiated. While the success of the RNA vaccine concept may have seemed straightforward at the time, it was made possible, in part, by two decades of prior research dedicated to optimizing the conditions for utilizing the RNA molecule as a therapeutic modality⁶. RNA is in its 'naked' state, a sensitive macromolecule that has poor pharmacological characteristics, *i.e.* prone to nuclease degradation, activation of the immune system, and unable to passively cross the cell membrane. Therefore, substantial efforts have been devoted to reinforcing the macromolecule to withstand the harsh *in vivo* environment and reach the intended target within the cell. Much prior research activity had previously been pursued for short RNAs that had received a lot of attention for highly specific gene silencing. As Fire and Mello (and others) discovered the endogenous gene regulatory pathway called RNA interference (RNAi) that could accurately downregulate any gene by sequence specific knockdown utilizing small interfering RNAs (siRNAs)⁷, there has been a great interest in exploiting this Nobel prize awarded mechanism for therapeutic purposes. Indeed, such targeted therapy could be an ideal cancer therapy with specific knockdown of cancer driving genes.

However, reaching the correct tissue and gaining entry into the cytosol of the target cell remains challenging for siRNA therapeutics. Multiple delivery strategies have been proposed but even the most effective delivery strategies are believed to deliver less than 1% of the endocytosed siRNA to the cytosol⁸, while the non-delivered material remains contained by the enclosing endosome and is eventually degraded in lysosomes. An important factor that limits the further development of siRNA delivery strategies is the lack of methods that can study endosomal release and cytosolic delivery of siRNA. Indeed, such methods would be of great value for assessing the total efficiency for a potential delivery strategy and identify delivery bottlenecks, and thus aid in the development of novel delivery strategies. Given this, the aim of this PhD thesis has been to investigate lipid mediated delivery of siRNA, by developing novel methods to detect and quantify cytosolic delivery of the macromolecular siRNA. The aim is to advance our toolkit to study RNA delivery in general and some of the methods presented here can be applied to multiple types of RNA therapeutics. Hence, the thesis summary will touch upon other RNA based therapies to some extent.

RNA interference

Gene regulation is a highly complex process encompassing a vast number of pathways that facilitate regulation at various stages of gene expression. The process is important for cell differentiation and development, maintaining homeostasis, response to environmental changes etc. Among these is a pathway called RNA interference (RNAi) that plays a significant role in post-transcriptional gene regulation. The pathway is also believed to have been crucial in the cellular response to viral infections before animals and plants diverged. RNAi is an evolutionary conserved mechanism found in cells across species, that utilizes short RNA molecules for downregulation of specific genes through translational inhibition of mRNA. These short RNA molecules derive from longer noncoding RNAs that can be separated into a number of classes. Among them are exogenous siRNAs that are short double-stranded RNAs (~22-nucleotides long) and endogenous microRNAs (miRNA) that are transcribed as single-stranded RNAs and processed into short double-stranded mature miRNAs⁹.

Beginning in the early 90s, Ambros and coworkers discovered an endogenous regulator in *Caenorhabditis elegans* that could control developmental timing. The regulator came to be known as lin-4 and was the first miRNA to be recognized¹⁰. A few years later, groundbreaking work by Fire and Mello reported specific gene silencing in C. elegans by introducing exogenous double-stranded RNA⁷, which they were later awarded the Nobel prize in Physiology or Medicine for in 2006. The first demonstration of the conversion of long dsRNAs into 21-23 nt siRNAs as well as triggering of the RNAi pathway by synthetic siRNAs was later reported by Tuschl and coworkers¹¹. The two classes of small RNAs were initially thought to be separate from each other, however it was later revealed that miRNA and siRNA depend on the same family of proteins, namely Dicer and Argonaute (Ago). Dicer enzymes are responsible for identifying longer double-stranded RNAs (dsRNAs) and subsequently cleave them into shorter pre-miRNAs/siRNAs¹². Ago is the catalytically active RNase that facilitates translational repression. However, while there is a mechanistic overlap for miRNA and siRNA, their origin and potential outcome diverge to some extent.

The RNAi pathway

miRNA pre-processing in the nucleus

While the precursors of miRNAs originate from the genome, siRNAs are either administered exogenously to the cytoplasm or in some species, other exogenous sources such as viral infections could potentially introduce it¹³. Thus, pre-processing in the nucleus is only performed on miRNA precursors (Figure 1). In the initial phase, miRNAs are single-stranded RNAs transcribed by RNA polymerase II as primary hairpin-containing transcripts or primary miRNA (pri-miRNA). PrimiRNAs typically feature some mismatches and contain multiple stem-loops and terminal loops, and usually contain at least 1000 nucleotides (nts). The maturation is then initiated as the nuclear RNase III called Drosha crops one of the stem-loops in the junction of the stem of the pri-miRNA, approximately 11 base pairs (bps) from the opening of the hairpin-loop. This is delicately orchestrated together with a cofactor called DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 8 (DGCR8), which together with Drosha forms the microprocessor complex¹⁴. After cleavage, the resulting ~70 nucleotide pre-miRNA is transported to the cytoplasm by Exportin-5 and RanGTP¹⁵.

RISC assembly in the cytoplasm

Reaching the cytoplasm, the RNAi pathways between miRNA and siRNA converge and the precursors typically share similar fates. Dicer is initially recruited and the precursor RNAs are trimmed down to smaller RNA duplexes of 21-25 nt fit for loading onto Ago. For miRNA, the terminal loop is specifically removed¹⁶. The trimmed duplex additionally results in 2 nt overhangs at the 3'-ends and phosphate groups on the 5-ends¹⁷, which are important motifs for loading. For some siRNAs, this step is surpassed by introducing such overhangs synthetically. Dicer then subsequently perform Ago loading (Ago2 for siRNA), which is assisted by dsRNAbinding proteins (dsRBP), usually the TAR RNA-binding protein (TRBP), and together they form the RISC-loading complex (RLC)¹⁸. One of the strands of the dsRNA is then selected as guide strand, as the Piwi-Argonaut-Zwille (PAZ) and middle (MID) domain of Dicer binds to the 3'-overhang and the phosphate group on the 5'-end, respectively, to generate the effector complex called RISC. The other strand, *i.e.* the passenger strand, is discarded¹⁹.



Figure 1. The RNA interference pathway.

Pri-miRNA is transcribed in the nucleus by RNA polymerase II and processed to pre-miRNA by the microprocessor complex (Drosha and DGCR8). Pre-miRNA is transported to the cytoplasm by Exportin-5 and RanGTP. siRNA or miRNA interacts with Dicer and TRBP for RLC assembly and subsequent Ago2 loading. Guide strand is selected to form RISC and mRNA target is either repressed from translation if incomplete complementarity or cleaved by Ago2 and degraded if perfect complementarity. Created with BioRender.com.

RNA interference by RISC

As RISC formation is completed and the guide strand of either miRNA or siRNA has been loaded into Ago, the effector complex searches the cytoplasm for potential mRNA targets sharing sequence complementarity with the guide strand. When an mRNA is found, the seed sequence that constitute 2-8 nt of the guide strand,

initialize binding to the target mRNA. Subsequent silencing is then proceeded by two mechanisms. If perfect complementarity is attained between the seed sequence and the mRNA sequence, Ago proceed by cleaving the mRNA, resulting in subsequent degradation. For incomplete complementarity, the RISC induces non-endonucleolytic translational repression²⁰.

While this canonical pathway describes the general concept of RNA interference, there is an important distinction between miRNA and siRNA, which is their respective modes of target recognition and downregulatory outcome. miRNAs generally have different degrees of complementarity with multiple RNA targets and can therefore alter gene expression for a plethora of targets with a single miRNA sequence. siRNAs on the other hand, are generally designed to share almost perfect complementarity to its target RNA and are thus highly specific against single RNA targets²¹. Thus, for scientific applications and as therapeutics, siRNA-type designs have typically been the more compelling option due to its straightforward rationale, although there are potential avenues for miRNA as well.

RNA-based therapy

It is well known that the druggable targets for small molecule therapies is limited to a small fraction of the expressed proteins. Approximately 10-14% of the proteins can be targeted because of apparent active sites or allosteric sites, *i.e.*, mainly enzymes, transporters, ion channels, and receptors. Other proteins that lack obvious binding pockets such as scaffolding proteins, structural proteins, transcription factors, chaperones or assembly/disassembly factors pose a significant challenge for conventional drug development due to their multifaceted functions and unclear target sites²². The "undruggable" nature becomes even more evident when only ~1.5% of the human genome encode for proteins, while the majority are transcribed as non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs)^{23, 24}, indicating the need for other therapies with a larger repertoire of druggable targets.

RNA-based therapeutics is a steadily growing field that have the potential to address many of the current limitations faced by today's therapies. Since the discovery of the mRNA in 1961²⁵ which was awarded the Nobel prize in 1962, the field of RNA molecules has yielded an additional three Nobel prizes for the scientific discoveries, *i.e.*, RNA splicing²⁶ in 1993, RNAi⁷ in 2006, and CRISPR gene-editing technology²⁷ in 2020. These scientific achievements signifies the excessive potential that the field has and have paved the way towards using the molecule as a therapeutic modality.

The therapeutic platform of RNA-based drugs can theoretically function in each macromolecule that constitutes the central dogma of molecular biology, namely DNAs, RNAs, and proteins. Translatory interference of mRNA and inhibition of ncRNAs can be achieved with siRNAs, antisense oligonucleotides (ASOs), and miRNAs through traditional Watson-Crick base-pairing. Protein replacement treatments and immunization can be achieved with *in vitro* produced mRNAs that is subsequently delivered to the target cell. For genome editing, target RNA sequences in clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat (CRISPR)-based drugs can be modified to treat a certain genetic disorder. Finally, RNA aptamers can act similar to small-molecule inhibitors and antibodies and block specific protein activity.

An important aspect for RNA-based drugs is the flexibility and the precision that could potentially be achieved. RNAs are in principle 2-dimensional structures in the sense that they are sequences of nucleotides. And, the therapeutic mechanism for the majority of the proposed RNA-based drugs is, albeit simplified, Watson and Crick base pairing or codons that translates to amino acids. Such design makes RNA-based drugs extremely flexible as it ultimately boils down to a sequence of code. Thus, small genetic changes that could give rise to disease can accurately be addressed with minimal effort²⁸, introducing a new potential paradigm for personalized medicine.

While promising, there are multiple physiological barriers for RNA therapeutics. RNA is a highly sensitive macromolecule in its naked state and require rigorous chemical modifications and sophisticated delivery strategies to become therapeutically applicable. This will be discussed in greater detail in the chapter 'Barriers for RNA therapeutics and strategies to overcome them'.

Introduced below are some of the main RNA therapeutics that are generally highlighted for their therapeutic significance (Figure 2), with particular emphasis on siRNA due to the aim of the thesis.





RNAi can be subdivided into siRNA and miRNA therapeutics. Both function to inhibit gene expression, with siRNAs selectively targeting specific mRNAs leading to translational inhibition or mRNA degradation. miRNAs target multiple mRNAs and can only induce translational inhibition. ASO is another class of inhibitory therapeutics that target specific mRNAs and can cause translation inhibition or mRNA degradation. mRNA drugs can be subdivided into mRNA therapeutics and mRNA vaccines, acting as *e.g.*, protein replacement therapies or as antigens to cause an immunological response, respectively. Created with BioRender.com.

Antisense oligonucleotides (ASOs)

ASOs are oligonucleotides that are single stranded (ss) and target specific RNA through Watson-Crick base-pairing. They are generally 12-30 nucleotides of length and the binding specificity to the target RNA is determined by the degree of complementarity as well as binding energy modulation by specific modified bases usually incorporated in the design. Protein expression can be reduced, restored, or modified with ASOs and they are typically divided into two types of mechanisms: occupancy-mediated degradation and occupancy-only models with various post-hybridization mechanisms^{29, 30}.

Occupancy-mediated degradation

ASOs that mediate occupancy-mediated degradation cleave the target RNA at the site of ASO binding, resulting in specific gene downregulation. Because the pathway uses specific enzymes, it is sometimes also referred to as enzymatic RNA degradation³¹. The most well-defined mechanism involves the RNase H1 enzyme. It is highly selective and ubiquitously distributed throughout the cell, and explicitly cleave RNA-DNA heteroduplexes in both the cytoplasm and the nucleus³². Another occupancy-mediated degradation pathway are so-called ribozymes³³. They fold into hairpin or hammerhead structures and subsequently facilitate cleavage of the target RNA³⁴. Ribozymes can also be modified so that their substrate recognition domains can promote either cis or trans-site cleavage. There are also some initial studies on a mechanism called nonsense-mediated mRNA decay in which the ASO trigger alternative splicing of the pre-mRNA resulting in an mRNA containing premature termination codons³⁵. Or the ASO act on mature mRNA to trigger a "no-go decay" mechanism which mRNAs with multiple stalled ribosomes are degraded³⁶.

Occupancy-only mechanism

The second variant of ASO mediated mechanisms is referred to as the occupancyonly mechanism. As the name entails, the ASO binds to the specific target but do not involve any catalytic enzymes, but instead act as a steric blockade. Therefore, the pathway has a wider utility and can be used for both down- and up-regulatory purposes. In the case of downregulation, three mechanisms are presently described. The ASO can block translation by sterically hinder ribosomal recruitment to the target mRNA^{37, 38}. A phase I study for the treatment of prostate cancer evaluated such translational-blocking ASOs for the purpose of downregulating the transcription factor myelocytomatosis oncogene (MYC)³⁹. The 5' cap can be cleaved by ASOs that guides catalytic enzymes responsible for cap structure disassembly⁴⁰. Thirdly, polyadenylation sites can be targeted on pre-mRNA sequences to alter its stability, and thus gene expression levels⁴¹. For upregulation, there is an additional subpopulation of mechanisms that ASOs may be used for. Splice altering ASOs have so far been the most explored mechanisms of action, with nusinersen being the first clinically approved antisense drug exploiting this mechanism⁴²⁻⁴⁴. Nusinersen treats spinal muscular atrophi (SMA), a motor neuron disease that is caused by the loss of function of the survival motor neuron 1 (*SMN1*) gene that normally encodes for the key protein SMN that is responsible of forming and maintaining neuromuscular junctions. There is, however, a second gene (*SMN2*) that encodes for limited amounts of a more unstable SMN protein. This instability is caused by a mutated splicing enhancer sequence that excludes one of the exons. The active ASO in nusinersen corrects for this mutation by binding to the *SMN2* pre-mRNA and facilitate inclusion of the exon, thus resulting in generation of a stabilized SMN protein⁴⁴.

Other mechanisms of ASO steric blockades that can facilitate upregulation of protein expression is by target miRNAs responsible for downregulating the gene of interest. Known as anti-miRs, they specifically bind to the miRNA and suppress it from binding to its target mRNA, thus increasing the expression of the corresponding protein. Some initial studies have further shown that ASOs may be used as a masking agent for miRNA-binding sites on mRNA, also leading to increased protein levels^{45, 46}. Finally, upstream open reading frames (uORFs) and translation inhibitory elements (TIEs) can be targeted for increased protein translation, inhibiting the binding of suppressive structural elements^{29, 30}.

Small interfering RNAs (siRNAs)

siRNAs are short double-stranded (ds) RNAs, typically 21-23 nucleotides, that mediate target specific knockdown of cytoplasmic RNAs utilizing the RNAi pathway^{11,47}, as described in the chapter 'RNA interference'. siRNAs have also been suggested as agents for chromatin remodelling and histone modification in the nucleus^{48,49}. However, presently there is no consensus on the nuclear functions of siRNAs. For cytoplasmic RNA targeting, the sequences are typically designed to have perfect complementarity with the targeted RNA, making siRNA therapeutics an ideal therapy for specific targeting. However, as the therapeutic field has grown more "rules" have emerged to design a potent sequence. Therefore, there are a number of considerations that will play an important role for the pharmacodynamics of the designed siRNA sequence, which will ultimately influence target specificity and off-target activity.

Trigger motifs and sequence selection

RNA duplexes that are larger than 21 bp interact with Dicer for cleavage and subsequent loading into the RISC via the RLC⁵⁰. Smaller siRNAs tend to bypass Dicer cleavage and is loaded into RISC by interacting with the TRBP or by Dicer⁵¹, ⁵². Dicer typically recognize 2 nucleotide overhangs on the 3'-ends, usually with two uracil or two thymine nucleotides. These overhangs are expected to form on endogenous RNA duplexes produced in the Dicer cleavage reaction⁵³, which could be an explanation for its necessity in siRNA synthesis. Generally, siRNAs are designed to bypass Dicer cleavage for direct strand selection and interaction with RISC. The choice allows for a more extensive use of chemical modifications that is generally needed for metabolic stability and improved performance⁵⁴ (discussed in more detail in the chapter 'Barriers for RNA therapeutics and strategies to overcome them'). However, Dicer cleavage have been shown to enhance RNAi activity because of a more consistent selection of the antisense strands⁵⁰, which could pose a potential advantage for some therapeutic applications.

Since siRNAs are double-stranded, both strands can theoretically be incorporated into RISC^{52, 55}. Thus, guide strand selection by Dicer between the sense strand (incorrect) and antisense strand (correct) will have a pronounced effect on the resulting RNAi-activity, with lower potency and potential off-target effects if the wrong strand is loaded⁵⁶. Stability and binding efficiency between the strands can be balanced by guanine-cytosine content (GC-content), and it is preferable to have at least 30-50% of GC-content to influence RISC incorporation⁵⁶. The strand with its 5'-end at the end of the less thermodynamically stable part of the siRNA has also been shown to be selected as guide strand when loaded onto Ago2, as elegantly shown by Czech *et al.* and Khvorova *et al.*^{51, 52}. Thus, ideally 5'-end of the antisense strand should contain a higher adenine-uracil content (AU-content). Other means of facilitating guide strand selection is by designing 'asymmetric' siRNAs with a 2 nt 3'-overhang on one side and a blunt end on the other, where the strand with the 3'-overhang tends to be selected as guide strand⁵⁵.

After the guide strand has been incorporated into the RISC, the RNA-RISC complex subsequent action involves binding to the target mRNA. This step is partly assisted by the Ago proteins that improve binding kinetics by reshaping the guide strand bases to enhance potential hybridization with the mRNA target and facilitate search of mRNA target sites^{57, 58}. Still, transiting ribosomes and mRNA-bound proteins can impede access⁵⁹ and complicating binding. There are available prediction software⁶⁰, but they are presently not reliable for evaluating such complex interactions. Another complicating factor is the seed-region which constitute the primary binding region between the guide strand and mRNA. It is generally no more than 8 bases and could potentially bind to a wide range of potential off-targets. Fortunately, Ago2 require almost perfect binding, and thus particular mRNA might

become translatory inhibited which is less detrimental. Additionally, there are multiple available tools for screening sequences for potential off-target risks⁶¹.

As a therapeutic

Utilizing siRNA-mediated silencing for therapeutic purposes could open new doors for currently undruggable diseases. For instance, many oncogenic targets fall into the category of "undruggable" because of *e.g.* the lack of active binding sites⁶², but could potentially be targeted by siRNA therapeutics. Indeed, initial studies have attempted to silence Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene (KRAS) or MYC in mouse models^{63, 64}, however, more substantial studies are needed. Currently, there are five approved siRNA drugs, all targeting different mRNA transcripts in the liver⁶⁵⁻⁶⁹. The first clinically used siRNA drug, called patisiran, was approved by the FDA in 2018. Patisiran targets a mutated transthyretin gene (TTR) in the hepatocytes that gives rise to hereditary transthyretin-mediated amyloidosis (hATTR). The mutated gene cause amyloid deposits that accumulate in the peripheral nervous system due to misfolding of the resulting protein, leading to polyneuropathy. With patisiran, the mRNA of the mutated TTR is instead degraded by RNAi, resulting in a decrease in TTR production and limiting disease progression⁶⁵. To reach beyond the liver, further improvements concerning delivery and endosomal escape of siRNA is needed (read chapter 'Barriers for RNA therapeutics and strategies to overcome them')

MicroRNAs (miRNAs)

miRNAs are powerful genetic regulators that can regulate a wide range of target genes with a single miRNA, utilizing the RNAi pathway. From a therapeutic standpoint such characteristics can be extremely attractive, as multiple therapeutic targets can be altered with one fairly simple molecular design⁷⁰. For instance, a particular study showed that a single miRNA could redirect an entire cellular pathway that were involved in T cell regulation⁷¹. The addressable spectrum further increases as several miRNAs typically regulate the same gene or pathway, adding to the complexity of altering such regulatory network. Another fortunate characteristic with miRNAs as potential therapeutics is that they are often entirely conserved across several vertebrate species. Same miRNA compound could therefore theoretically be used in preclinical studies as well as in prospective clinical studies⁷². Albeit powerful, the pleiotropic function will also increase the likelihood of downregulating off-targets that would consequently cause unwanted side effects. Indeed, such scenario was observed in a first clinical trial with a tumor-suppressive miRNA mimic⁷³. Thus. rigorous mapping of the miRNA target will be necessary to avoid the potential risk for unwanted side-effects.

miRNA therapeutics generally aim to modify, or reverse, changes in miRNA expression that give rise to disease. Such alterations are either achieved by enhancement or restoration of endogenous miRNAs that suppress pathological development or by blocking damaged miRNA pathways that drive disease progression. The current repertoire of routes for miRNA enhancement/targeting include synthetic miRNAs (i.e. mimics of endogenous miRNAs), recombinant vectors carrying miRNA encoding sequences, and anti-miRs⁷² that have already been introduced in the ASOs section. There are currently a handful of miRNA therapeutics in clinical trials. Besides anti-miRs, that constitutes a significant portion, there are a few synthetic miRNA drug candidates. As a cancer therapy, a promising synthetic miRNA is the mimic of miR-34a. The mir-34 family has been identified as regulators of the p53 tumor suppressor protein⁷⁴, and is frequently inactivated for various cancers but could potentially repress tumor growth if reconstituted. Indeed, studies in cancer mouse models revealed notable suppression of tumor growth and metastasis when miR-34 is either re-expressed or delivered to the tumor⁷⁵. Similarly, preclinical trials of let-7, a miRNA frequently downregulated or lost in lung cancer, revealed notable reduction of tumor size after administration in mice⁷⁶

Messenger RNAs (mRNAs)

The introduction of exogenous mRNAs to recipient cells could be very effective in many therapeutic contexts, and it was first demonstrated in vivo after injecting in vitro transcribed mRNA in mouse skeletal muscle cells which resulted in a detectable protein expression⁷⁷. Being the messenger between genetic information and protein production, mRNA comes with many useful pharmacological qualities. For instance, the mRNA generally has a short half-life for regulatory reasons. In the context of vaccines, such transient effects are important to limit the immunological response but generate a sufficient reaction to confer immunity without causing prolonged side effects. Introducing foreign mRNA to the cytoplasm also stimulate a number of immunological responses, such as the activation of toll-like receptors (TLRs), providing mRNA with inherent adjuvanticity⁷⁸. Additionally, compared to protein-based vaccines where the protein usually derives from bacteria, the antigen produced by mRNA vaccines will be translated by the host machinery. Therefore, the protein structure will closely resemble the protein translated from the viral genome⁷⁹. Indeed, these beneficial traits comes as no surprise after the remarkable success of the mRNA-based vaccine against the SARS-CoV-2, which brought significant attention to novel modality⁵. Other ongoing studies focus on mRNA vaccines as a potential cancer therapy. An mRNA construct containing predicted neoepitopes and driver gene mutations where synthesized and vaccinated in patients with metastatic gastrointestinal cancer. The vaccine demonstrated T cell specific

responses against the same predicted neoepitopes and receptors targeting the included mutated driver gene⁸⁰. Similar studies are also being carried out for melanoma, glioblastoma, acute myeloid leukemia, and renal cell carcinoma⁸¹⁻⁸⁴.

mRNA-based therapy can also be used in the context of protein replacement⁸⁵, where the disease is a result of a protein deficiency. For extended duration of effect, however, the mRNA would require extensive chemical modifications to prevent degradation. Substantial efforts have therefore been devoted to chemically stabilize the 5' cap, the 5' and 3' untranslated region (UTR), and the pol(A) tail, prolonging their initial duration of effect from a few minutes to more than a week⁸⁶. Sitespecific chemical modifications that also improve stability and is extensively used in short RNA therapeutics, would additionally prolong the lifespan of the mRNA. But, because of the length of mRNAs, they can only be *in vitro* transcribed (not chemically synthesized as short RNAs), which makes base modifications currently unavailable⁸⁷. Currently, there is only a handful of protein replacement therapies in clinical trial, mainly focusing on cardiac diseases utilizing mRNA transcripts encoding the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)⁸⁸. But several preclinical studies for cancer⁸⁹, lung diseases⁹⁰, and other diseases are also ongoing⁹¹.

Barriers for RNA therapeutics and strategies to overcome them

The field of RNA-based therapy face a multitude of challenges to reach its full potential, and there are several physiological barriers to $overcome^{92}$. The barriers depend on the route of administration, and compared to systemic administration, local administration is generally unaffected by barriers associated with systemic circulation. But in the case of having a broad therapeutic effect, *e.g.*, reaching metastatic sites in a number of organs, systemic administration is preferred. The potential barriers introduced here will therefore be based on systemic administration.

Barriers

The physiological environment for 'naked' RNA is extremely hostile, with several extracellular and intracellular barriers (Figure 3). RNAs have poor stability and pharmacokinetic characteristics. For instance, the phosphodiester bonds that make up the backbone of the RNA is very sensitive to catalytic ribonucleases (RNases) and phosphatases. RNA that is systemically administrated into circulation will thus rapidly be degraded into fragments by circulating endo and exonucleases, not being able to reach the intended tissue and have a therapeutic effect⁹³. For oligonucleotides such as siRNAs and ASOs, the pores of the glomerulus, the filtering unit of the kidney, are large enough to clear the circulating RNA. As a result, small RNAs will have a short half-life and unrealistic dosing of a potential therapeutic would therefore be necessary to achieve the intended dose in the target tissue. Once the RNA reaches the target organ, it hast to exit the circulation and be transported in the tissue interstitium to reach the target cells. Here it must become internalized via endocytosis, which generally require an internalization ligand or structure. Because siRNAs and ASOs are large hydrophilic polyanions (~14 kDa), they cannot naturally diffuse across the cell membrane like small molecule drugs. Larger mRNAs are obviously even less prone for such transitions. Other barriers that interfere with RNA therapies are the scavenge macrophages within the reticuloendothelial system (RES) or innate-immune responses that are activated upon endocytosis through recognition by TLRs that resides within endosomal

structures⁹³. Finally, as the RNA has been endocytosed it has to escape from the enclosing endosome to reach the cytosol to perform its biological function, *e.g.*, to interact with RISC. This step is considered to be highly inefficient, and one of the major bottlenecks for RNA therapeutics.



Figure 3. Barriers to RNA therapeutics.

Systemically administered therapeutic RNA face a number of barriers to reach the target tissue and into the target cell. (a) Circulating RNases will rapidly degrade any present RNA that reaches the bloodstream. (b) The kidneys will clear smaller RNA that fit through the pores of the glomerolus. (c) In the reticuloendothelial system (RES), scavenge macrophages resides and will clear the RNA by phagocytosis. (d) Toll-like receptors within the endosomes will elicit an immunological response as the RNA enters through endocytosis. (e) The enclosing membrane of the endosome will prevent the RNA from reaching the cytosol. Created with BioRender.com.

To overcome these barriers, RNA-based therapeutics require sophisticated chemical modifications and delivery strategies to minimize the risks of degradation, renal clearance, and immunological responses and facilitate productive delivery to target tissues and, importantly, into the cytosol of the target cell through endosomal escape. This chapter will mainly focus on improvement strategies for oligonucleotide delivery, but some improvements are also applicable for other RNA

therapeutics. Current bottlenecks that hamper RNA delivery will also be highlighted.

Chemical modifications

Chemical modifications of oligonucleotides are an important part of improving pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and biodistribution of the macromolecule when systemically delivered. The main types of modifications are backbone modifications, ribose sugar modifications, and base modifications, but there are also alternative chemistries depending on the specific purpose⁹⁴. Due to the wide range of possible modifications that can be applied to each nucleotide, numerous sequence combinations or permutations have also been suggested to further improve potency and reduce potential toxicities⁶.

Backbone modification

There are many kinds of backbone modifications, but one of the most widely used modification for therapeutic oligonucleotides is the incorporation of phosphorothioate (PS) linkages in the inter-nucleotide phosphate group. The nonbridging oxygen atoms is replaced with a sulfur atom, which provides the oligonucleotides with a number of improved characteristics. The replacement significantly decreases the interaction with nucleases. PS is a bulkier group than oxygen and sterically impede nuclease access to their recognition sites⁹⁵. Plasma proteins, such as albumin, will also have increased affinity to the oligonucleotides⁹⁶, ⁹⁷, which may result in a longer circulation time as it can no longer pass through the 'filters' of the glomerulus⁹⁸. The accumulation of plasma proteins might also facilitate increased cellular uptake through increased hydrophobicity⁹⁹. However, too high protein binding has showed an increased risk for *in vivo* toxicity¹⁰⁰. ASOs can generally have a fully modified PS backbone, and still recruit RNase H for mRNA cleavage. siRNAs, on the other hand, can only be partially modified with PS as heavily modified sequences will considerably weaken its interaction with its target sequence⁶. The insertion of PS modifications can vary but it is generally introduced at the ends of both strands for siRNAs, providing sufficient resistance and acceptable half-life. Despite increased stability that could potentially result in a more widespread distribution, siRNAs and other oligonucleotides that are PS modified are still primarily accumulated in the clearance organs, with some exceptions^{101, 102}.
Ribose modification

The ribose sugar is a frequently modified component on therapeutic oligonucleotides, especially the 2'-hydroxyl group (2'-OH). Due to its nucleophilic characteristic the hydroxyl group can participate in a number of chemical reactions, and it is generally required for hydrolysis of the phosphodiester linkage on the RNA backbone. Substitution of the 2'-OH group to a less reactive group is therefore common practice to stabilize the RNA. The 2'-O-methyl (2'-OMe) is one of the more typical substitutions¹⁰³. Similar to backbone modifications, 2'-OMe enhance molecular stability by impeding attacking ribonucleases¹⁰⁴. The introduction of 2'-OMe additionally reduces immune stimulation by acting as an antagonist against TLR7, reducing the induction of both interferon- α (IFN- α) and interleukin-6 (IL-6)¹⁰⁵. Studies have also shown that 2'-OMe incorporation mediate increased affinity for mRNA target binding¹⁰⁶, improving pharmacokinetic properties of the oligonucleotides. There is a wide range of other substitutions and it is not uncommon to alternate between *e.g.* 2'-OMe and 2'-deoxy-2'-fluoro (2'-F) to improve the pharmacological properties even further.

Base modification

Base modifications are still in an early stage of research but have been proven beneficial for RNA therapeutics. Exchanging native bases with artificial bases, such as using pseudouridine instead of uridine, can be a potential avenue for bypassing innate immune recognition and stabilize them from degradation by nucleases^{107, 108}. For example, through computational modelling and subsequent experimental evaluation, synthetic alterations of the adenosine base of an siRNA revealed effective reduction in tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) as a response of disrupted nucleotide/TLR8 interaction¹⁰⁹, while maintaining functionality. It has also been shown that very precise base modifications can promote insertion of the correct siRNA strand into RISC, providing significant reduction in off-target effects¹¹⁰. However, there are safety concerns regarding the unknown metabolic fate of these modifications, and pharmaceutical companies are therefore being careful before such pathways have been clarified¹¹¹.

Delivery strategies

Beside chemical modifications that improve stability, immunogenicity, and efficiency of RNAs, reaching the desired tissue and into the cytosol of a cell by endosomal escape, generally requires a dedicated delivery strategy. While there are modified ASOs that have been clinically approved that do not rely on a highly specific delivery strategy but is instead introduced into cells by gymnotic ('naked')

uptake¹¹²⁻¹¹⁶, short double stranded RNAs such as siRNAs and larger mRNAs are unable to do so¹⁰³. The most accessible organ for siRNA drugs by systemic delivery is currently the liver, and to some extent the kidneys. However, there are currently only siRNA drugs targeting the liver that have been approved by the FDA¹¹²⁻¹¹⁶. There are, however, clinical trials for diseases in eye, skin, lungs, and brain, although these organs are primarily accessed by local, topical, intranasal, or cerebrospinal injection¹¹⁷. Thus, in the case of systemic delivery, reaching beyond the liver remains a challenge. Numerous strategies have been proposed using a variety of materials that facilitate endocytic uptake, but for efficient targeting to specific organs there is still a lot of work left to be done.

Delivery

Tissue targeting and cell uptake

Delivery strategies can be separated into active and passive tissue targeting⁸⁷. Passive tissue targeting is essentially when the delivery strategy relies on interactions with serum proteins and other trafficking molecules within the systemic circulation, to reach its target tissue. A typical example is lipid nanoparticle (LNP) mediated RNA delivery which "passively" targets the hepatocytes in the liver. LNPs take advantage of the circulating apolipoprotein (Apo), which are lipid-binding proteins that plays an important role in the transport of cholesterol. For LNPs, ApoE is especially adsorbed on the LNP surface, and is subsequently transported for endocytic interaction with low-density lipoprotein receptors (LDLR) that are expressed on the hepatocytes¹¹⁸.

In the case of active tissue targeting, ligands that target a specific biomolecule that is present on target cell, such as a highly expressed receptor, is conjugated directly onto the RNA itself or is incorporated as a part of a delivery strategy. A prime example is the ligand called *N*-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc) that significantly improved RNA delivery to the liver. GalNAc binds to the highly expressed receptor on the hepatocytes called asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGPR) and mediate endocytosis of the RNA payload. Less than a percent of the RNA is believed to subsequently escape the endosomes, but because of the enormous uptake facilitated by the large number of ASGPR, the total release is more than sufficient for complete RNAi mediated knockdown¹¹⁹. The ideal scenario would be to find equally high expressed receptors for other tissues and organs, especially where disease is the driving force for receptor upregulation. For instance, tumor cells have the ability of upregulating specific receptors due to a higher demand of nutrients¹²⁰. These receptors could be potential targets for ligand associated delivery of RNA drugs.

However, not all cancers have highly unique receptors to be targeted, and for other diseases we may not be as fortunate as with hepatocytes and their ASGPR. Indeed, it should be recognized that the success of the FDA approved siRNA drugs is in part

due to the liver being a metabolically active organ that serves a central role in protein synthesis, detoxification, and production of necessary biochemicals. Consequently, drugs naturally accumulate in the liver to be metabolized, making the organ highly amenable as a drug target. The high cell uptake of RNA therapeutics will therefore to some extent counteract the effects of another major bottleneck, *i.e.*, having insignificant endosomal escape of RNA. Thus, for other tissues with only moderate uptake, the therapeutic will not make the cut, as most of the RNA payload will be limited by the enclosing endosomes while therapeutically insignificant amounts will reach the cytosol¹²¹. Unsafe dose levels, with high risk of toxicity would therefore be necessary to have a therapeutic effect¹²². This unbalance must be addressed from within the cell - namely improving endosomal escape of RNA into the cytosol¹²³.

Endosomal escape and cytosol entry

Following endocytosis (Figure 4), the RNA therapeutic is initially trapped in early endosomes, which are weakly acidic vesicles with a pH of ~6.5. As the early endosomes mature into late endosomes the acidity increases to a pH of ~5.5, thus a higher concentration of hydrogen ions will be present in the vesicle. The late endosomal compartment eventually fuses with the lysosomal compartment and the content within the late endosome is degraded by lysosomal enzymes¹²⁴. There are thus two alternative pathways for RNA therapeutics. Either the RNA is trapped within the endosomal membrane and degraded in the lysosomes, collectively referred to as non-productive uptake. Alternatively, the RNA is able to escape the enclosing endosome and reach the cytosol of the cell to execute its biological effect, referred to as productive uptake or endosomal escape. Often, the fate of the RNA therapeutics ends in the former pathway¹²¹. Importantly, the RNA that succeeds to escape the endosomal compartment is still only believed to be less than a percent, even with the most efficient delivery strategies⁸. Thus, the potential for improvement is immense. But due to a lack of tools that can accurately detect the release of therapeutic RNA into the cytosol, conceivable bottlenecks cannot be identified.

Intracellular responses to damaged endosomes

In the case of successful endosomal damage and potential endosomal escape by the RNA therapeutics, there are additional intracellular responses that immediately react to the ruptured endosome. A subset of proteins from the family called galectins is known to accumulate on damaged vesicles and target them for autophagy. They reside in the cytosol and immediately respond to β -galactoside-containing glycans within the endosomal membrane that become exposed upon damage (Figure 4)¹²⁵. However, inhibiting autophagy have not been shown to increase cytosolic release of siRNA¹²⁶. In **Paper I** we evaluate four members of the galectin family as a potential marker for endosomal damage. We could conclude that galectin-9 was most rapid and abundantly recruited to endocytic vesicles damaged by transfection lipids. Cells additionally possess mechanisms that repair damaged endosomal

membranes. A relatively recent explored example is the Endosomal Sorting Complex Required for Transport (ESCRT), which have shown to promote repair on injured vesicles¹²⁷. Very recently, so called stress granules have also demonstrated to rapidly accumulate on the site of membrane damage and stabilize it by acting as a plug. These granules are believed to act both in a regime with ESCRT and independently¹²⁸.



Figure 4. Schematic representation showing the intracellular fate of RNA therapeutics.

The RNA therapeutics, exemplified by an LNP, are taken up by cells via endocytosis and initially reside in early endosomes that is weakly acidic. The LNP then has two alternative pathways: it can either remain trapped by the maturing endosome and eventually become degraded in lysosomes by digestive enzymes, referred to as non-productive uptake. Or the LNP will damage the endosomal membrane and release the RNA payload into cytosol to excert its therapeutic effects. The latter alternative is believed to be highly inefficient. In the case of endosomal escape, the β -galactoside containing glycans within the endosomal membrane will become exposed upon damage and cytosolic galectins will rapidly be recruited and target the vesicle for autophagy. Created with BioRender.com.

Lipid nanoparticles

As touched upon briefly, LNPs are a class of macromolecular drug delivery strategies that are exploited for the delivery of the FDA approved siRNA drug called patisiran, for the treatment of TTR mediated amyloidosis, and for the mRNA vaccines against SARS-CoV-2^{79, 112}. They are about 50-100 nm in diameter and are typically synthesized using four types of lipids: ionizable lipid, cholesterol, lipid-anchored poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) constructs, and helper lipids (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Lipid nanoparticle structure and composition.

The lipid nanoparticle is composed of several lipid layers and microdomains that contain the RNA payload. synthesized using four type of lipids that have different functions. The ionizable lipid neutralizes the anionic charge of the RNA and cause endosomal membrane destabilization to promote endosomal escape of RNA payload. Cholesterol provide rigidity and intergrity to the lipid nanoparticle. The PEG-lipid improve RNA encapsulation and influence the size of the particle. Helper lipids promote stability and encapsulation, and destabilization once within an endosome. Created with BioRender.com.

Lipid components

The ionizable lipid is responsible for neutralizing the anionic charge of the RNA, making the RNA-lipid complex uncharged at physiological pH in circulation and facilitate improved cellular uptake¹²⁹. The lipid additionally stabilizes the RNA against nuclease degradation¹³⁰. When endocytosed, the ionizable lipid will become protonated as pH is decreasing during endosomal maturation, and the lipids typically have a pK_a similar to the pH of early endosomes. The protonation is in turn believed to facilitate interaction between the LNP and the negatively charged endosomal membrane and cause membrane destabilization to promote endosomal escape of the RNA payload^{126, 131}. In the case of patisiran, they used the ionizable lipid called Dlin-MC3-DMA (MC3), but other ionizable lipids have also been proposed⁸⁷.

Cholesterol stabilizes the LNPs by altering the rigidity and integrity of the particle. It has also been shown that delivery efficacy can be affected by using cholesterol analogues. Indeed, Patel *et al.*, showed that the incorporation of the cholesterol analogue C-24 alkyl phytosterol into the LNP could increase intracellular delivery of mRNA¹³². Other alterations, such as using oxidized cholesterol could drive delivery towards other cell types. Here, Kupffer cells and liver endothelial cells were targeted rather than hepatocytes¹³³.

PEG-lipids are responsible for a number of important key properties in LNPs. The size of the LNP particle is influenced by the amount of PEG-lipid that is used in the synthesis process, with increased amount resulting in smaller particle size¹³⁴. Typically ~1.5 mol% is used¹³⁴. The PEG-lipid balance is crucial for preventing

abundant serum protein opsonization and to minimize reticuloendothelial clearance, which benefit biodistribution of the LNPs^{135, 136}. Other factors that are improved by including PEG-lipids is the efficiency of encapsulating RNA and mask the LNP from immune responses^{137, 138}. Finally, helper lipids are usually used to promote stability and encapsulation and subsequent destabilization once within the endosomal compartment¹³⁹.

Using a microfluidic system, these lipids are combined with the RNA to synthesize the LNP in a controlled manner, balancing the ratios of the lipids to achieve the intended properties of particles¹⁴⁰.

LNP mediated RNA delivery

As mentioned previously, LNPs are delivered via passive tissue targeting, *i.e.*, ApoE adsorbs on the LNP surface and mediate cell uptake by interacting with LDLR on the cell membrane. While LNPs represent the most advanced delivery strategy for therapeutic RNA, it is still unknown how endosomal escape of LNP mediated RNA delivery proceed, and why only a limited fraction of the payload reaches the cytoplasm. The protonation of the ionizable lipid is proposed to be driving the interaction with the negatively charged endosomal membrane, and it is believed to proceed by a phase shift to an hexagonal membrane lipid phase that promote endosomal escape^{141, 142}. Indeed, it has been shown that LNPs create a tight interaction with a synthetic membrane when pH is decreased, which could be the initiator behind endosomal escape of RNA¹³¹. Using fluorescent or gold-labeled siRNA molecules, Gilleron et al. visualized MC3-LNP mediated release of siRNA using confocal and electron microscopy. They found that only 1-2% of the endosome containing siRNA escaped and that the damaged compartment was primarily a hybrid between early and late endosomes¹⁴³. Cytosolic release of siRNA delivered by LNPs have also been correlated with recruitment of a member from the galectin family that interacts with β -galactoside-containing glycans within the endosomal membrane^{125, 144}. Using a confocal live-cell imaging approach in combination with galectin-8, Wittrup et al. again observed very limited siRNA release (3.5%) from LNPs prepared with the ionizable lipid L319, which was mainly restricted to the early endosome compartments¹²⁶. Others have claimed that endosomal escape of siRNA primarily occurs from late endosomes¹⁴⁵.

For LNP mediated delivery of mRNA, one study characterized endocytic compartments for a number of cancer cell lines, investigating luminal pH, morphology and location of endosomal compartments. They subsequently treated these cell lines with MC3-LNPs containing mRNA and found that the cell lines that exhibited fast endosomal maturation and lower vesicular pH had a positive influence on mRNA translation, indicative of improved release for cell lines with a highly active endolysosomal system¹⁴⁶. Another study using MC3-LNP with mRNA payload recovered approximately 1% of the delivered mRNA from the cytosol, when treated to epithelial cells, suggesting very poor delivery of mRNA payload.

Additionally, they found that mRNA associated to endosomal compartments could be re-packaged into extracellular vesicles (EVs) that were functional both *in vitro* and *in vivo*¹⁴⁷. One study further investigated the subcellular fate of LNP delivered mRNA by super-resolution microscopy, using a number of different ionizable lipids¹⁴⁸. They concluded that the limited delivery of mRNA is due to impaired endosomal acidification because of prolonged uptake. This causes the mRNA to become trapped in unproductive defect endosomal compartments. Furthermore, they suggest early endocytic/recycling compartments to be the main escape route for mRNA from statistical correlations.

In **Paper III**, we address multiple mechanistically different barriers of MC3-LNP mediated delivery of siRNA and mRNA and investigate the sorting, integrity, and endosomal escape by single vesicle analysis. Using live cell imaging, we found that only a subset of internalized LNPs carrying siRNA/mRNA triggered endosomal membrane damage marked by galectin recruitment, while the vast majority remained unaffected by such damages. Additionally, some of these damages where in endosomes containing no RNA payload. Knocking down components of the ESCRT furthermore triggered more damages associated with galectin-9, indicative of a potential route for improved LNP RNA delivery. Using super-resolution microscopy we could also visualize disintegrated LNPs within the endosomal lumen and LNP remnants localized in close proximity to membrane damage marker accumulations.

Bioconjugates

As touched upon earlier, another means of delivering RNA to recipient cells is by conjugating molecules that act as delivery vehicles. These include polymers, peptides, antibodies, aptamers, small molecules, or other endogenous ligands¹⁴⁹. For the relevance of this thesis, cholesterol conjugation will mainly be discussed.

An advantage with bioconjugates is that they consists of a single molecule component, meaning that the balance between an siRNA molecule and the bioconjugate will be a fixed molar ratio (usually 1:1). Compared to LNPs which comprise of multiple lipids that are carefully combined with the siRNA using a microfluidics system, bioconjugation synthesis is thus relatively simple. Their biodistribution profiles are also believed to be favourable, reaching tissues beyond fenestrated or discontinuous endothelia¹⁵⁰.

The first bioconjugate that showed functional knockdown *in vivo* was a cholesterol that was conjugated to an siRNA sequence targeting ApoB. After systemic administration of the cholesterol-siRNA (chol-siRNA) in mice the plasma levels of ApoB was significantly reduced, indicating successful downregulation¹⁵¹. Recently, a chol-siRNA was also able to knockdown the gene myostatin in murine skeletal muscle, which has previously been a difficult organ to reach¹⁵². As 15-30% of the

cellular membrane consists of cholesterol, the cholesterol conjugation spontaneously intercalate into the membrane upon interaction with the cells, as a supporting component in the membrane structure^{153, 154}. The chol-siRNA is subsequently internalized by endocytosis. Alternatively, it is internalized by interactions with lipoprotein receptors¹⁵⁵. The uptake is generally rapid, and within seconds, the chol-siRNA can be readily detected in early endosomes in a number of cell types¹⁵⁶. However, despite effective uptake, high doses are generally required to produce a meaningful knockdown, indicative of poor endosomal escape of siRNA. Small molecule drugs with membrane destabilizing properties have therefore been an interesting avenue to improve endosomal release¹⁵⁷, but it has not been clear to what degree these compounds can improve endosomal escape of siRNA. Of these small-molecule drugs, chloroquine has been the prototypical molecule. It diffuses through the cell membrane and into the endosomes where it becomes protonated by the endosomal maturation. Chloroquine is then thought to act as a hydrophobic agent in the lipid bilayer and at ta critical concentration it lyse the endosome¹⁵⁸. In **Paper I** we take advantage of galectin-9, utilizing it as a marker for lipid membrane damage to visualize endosomal release of chol-siRNA, triggered by membrane destabilizing compounds such as chloroquine. We could conclude that some certain small-molecule compounds, especially chloroquine, significantly improved endosomal escape of chol-siRNA, while also damaging endosomal compartments that where empty.

Another highly relevant bioconjugate is the previously discussed GalNAc ligand which binds to the ASGPR on hepatocytes. At any one time approximately 100,000 ASGPR are present of the cell surface of hepatocytes. Upon GalNAc binding on diffuse monomeric ASGPR receptors, rapid re-localization of other ligand bound receptors are recruited to form aggregates that results in clathrin coated pit formation and subsequent endocytosis. As the pH drops within the endosomal structure, the GalNAc is released from the ASGPR and the receptor is recycled back to the cell membrane. Subsequently the linker between GalNAc and the conjugated siRNA is degraded and less than 1% of the siRNA is subsequently believed to escape from the endosome and reach the cytosol¹²³.

In summary, RNA therapeutics face a wide range of barriers to have a therapeutic effect. Chemical advancements in the prevention of nuclease degradation, immunological responses and renal clearance have improved the field significantly, but delivery to extrahepatic tissues and into the cell cytosol remains a challenge. LNPs are so far the most optimized delivery strategy. However, it is likely that bioconjugates, such as aptamers or ligand conjugates, will surpass LNPs eventually. They are a promising class of delivery vehicles with efficient routes of internalization that have the capability to in theory address any organ, knowing what receptor to target. But, to an even higher degree than LNPs, these delivery strategies also suffer from poor endosomal escape of RNA¹⁵⁹. There is additionally a gap of knowledge on how the RNA payload escapes the endosome, and clarification of this

mechanism will likely enhance future bioconjugation delivery systems. The methods in **Paper I** and **Paper III** could be potential avenues to address these challenges.

Dose-response of RNA therapeutics

In broad terms, the dose-response relationship is defined as the amount of exposure of a given substance and the subsequent effect on an organism. In pharmacology the substance can be translated into the amount of a particular drug used while the resulting effect can be a measurement from various biological responses. Typically, such responses are biological effect, toxicity, or lethality caused by the given drug dose. The biological effect could for example be the downregulatory response of a drug acting as an antagonist towards a specific enzyme or receptor, as the inhibitory interaction by nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) with the cyclooxygenase enzyme (COX) that results in pain relief. In this case, pain relief would be the response which would be translatable to the given dose NSAID, with increased dose typically resulting in increased pain relief¹⁶⁰. Identifying the response of multiple doses can in turn generate a dose-response model. Such models are crucial for e.g., determining safe and effective doses while excluding inefficient or saturated doses that can be potentially harmful. A typical measurement is the halfmaximal inhibitory concentration (IC_{50}), which represent the concentration of a substance needed to inhibit a particular biological response, or enzyme activity by half. Low IC_{50} values would thus indicate a highly potent drug and vice versa (Figure 6).



Figure 6. The dose-response relationship.

A dose-response curve showing the response in protein expression by different doses of siRNA. Low doses are insufficient to generate a response, while higher doses generate partial and maximal response (or knockdown). The dashed line indicate the IC_{50} for the used siRNA sequence. Created with BioRender.com.

Thus, for RNA therapeutics (as for any therapeutic), dose-response relationships can provide a lot of useful information, and there is a wide range of methods that can be applicable for the establishment of such relationships. Functional studies that address the knockdown effect of a particular siRNA sequence can be quantified by measuring the mRNA content by RT-PCR or the expressed protein by flow cytometry or western blot^{126, 160}. Such studies are crucial for drug development to determine the biological effect of an RNA therapeutic, and combines all the aspects of the molecule's efficacy, *i.e.*, target delivery, uptake, and knockdown effect. Given the simplicity of such assays, high-throughput assays can also be used which is extremely valuable when the interest is to screen a vast number of drug candidates.

While informative, typical activity assays will not capture other critical information that would be desirable for evaluating an RNA therapeutic. In the case of a certain sequence or compound having weak activity for instance, the plausible reasons are plentiful. It could be because of insufficient cell uptake, poor endosomal escape, trafficking to the lysosome, off-target interactions and other non-specific interactions, low target affinity etc. . Thus, other methods for addressing these concerns are required.

There are several methods that are typically used for measuring cellular uptake¹⁶¹. Commonly, they take advantage of fluorescently labeling the RNA therapeutic. Cells are treated *in vitro* or tissue from *in vivo* experiments are harvested. Typically, cells are then analyzed by flow cytometry of fluorescence microscopy to measure the amount of fluorescent RNA that is detected within the cell. Obviously, resolution will be better with microscopy and will be able to distinguish if fluorescent signal is within or outside of the cell and determine the RNAs subcellular localization. But even with advanced confocal microscopy it will be difficult to distinguish between endosomal or cytosol localized fluorescent RNA, especially given the fact that only a small fraction of the RNA is released into the cytosol¹²⁶. Thus, such methods are useful for total cellular uptake of RNA therapeutics but will not be suitable for measuring cytosol released RNA or productive uptake. The variability and inefficiency of cellular internalization between various tissues complicate the correlation between siRNA uptake and biological effect, therefore such association will not be able to distinguish between delivery efficiency and potency of a particular siRNA sequence. For instance, high cellular uptake and poor biological effect could either be due to limited delivery or an inefficient siRNA sequence.

Thus, being able to quantify successful cytosol delivered siRNA would be of great value for assessing delivery efficiencies and identify potential improvements for delivery strategies. Indeed, establishing the intracellular dose-response of RNA therapeutics would be able to address such concerns. Ideally, label-free high-throughput methods would be of great utility to evaluate the intrinsic properties of various siRNA sequences and conjugation strategies¹²¹. A number of methods for quantifying cytosol-delivered siRNA has been proposed, but they suffer from various limitations. One study suggested a quantitative strategy that measured

fluorescent signal from siRNA that became fluorescent when interacting with proteins expressed in the cytosol^{162, 163}. However, from a quantitative standpoint, such enzymatic reactions are difficult to interpret given the unclear kinetics and efficiency to convert the siRNA into a fluorescent state. Other studies delivering ASOs or proteins have relied on fluorescence correlation spectroscopy (FCS) and mass-spectrometry-based nanoSIMS for quantifying cytosolic delivery¹⁶⁴⁻¹⁶⁶. Such techniques are quantitative and highly sensitive which is important for detecting low concentrations. But they are also limited by low throughput, relying on subjective region-of-interest selection within the cytosol. Finally, microinjection experiments have also been devised, injecting doses of siRNA into live cells. However, while an exciting experimental approach, the dose-response relationship has shown highly contradictory results, with IC₅₀ values ranging from a dozen to several hundred siRNA molecules^{167, 168}. In Paper II and Paper IV we investigated the doseresponse relationship of cytosol delivered siRNA and the knockdown of a target gene, using a fluorescence confocal live-cell imaging-based method and an RTqPCR based method, respectively for the two papers. Using the same siRNA sequence with clinically relevant potency and same fluorescently labeled target protein, we could conclude comparable intracellular IC₅₀ values using two technically very different methods.

Present investigation

Aim

The aim of this thesis was to gain a better understanding of lipid-mediated delivery of RNA by developing methods to detect and quantify endosomal release and cytosolic delivery of siRNA. In the end, the hope is that such techniques will support the development of more effective delivery strategies to improve the therapeutic potential of RNA-based drugs. The four papers within this thesis address multiple methods to investigate the functionality of lipid mediated RNA delivery strategies, to identify bottlenecks and probe potential avenues for improvement. The specific aims of the four papers (I-IV) are:

- I. To investigate the effects on endosomal release of cholesterol conjugated siRNA by membrane destabilizing drugs.
- **II.** To elucidate the dose-response relationship between cytosol delivered siRNA and knockdown of a reporter gene using a confocal-based imaging method.
- **III.** To investigate and characterize the endosomal escape mechanism behind lipid nanoparticle delivered RNA.
- **IV.** To elucidate the dose-response relationship between cytosol delivered siRNA and knockdown of a reporter gene using a RT-qPCR-based method.

Methods

The main methods used in this thesis are described below. For further details, please see the Methods section in **Paper I-IV**.

Throughout **Paper I-IV**, the cervical cancer cell line HeLa was used. In **Paper I** the breast cancer cell line MCF-7 was also used in some experiments. Cells were cultured in DMEM with high glucose supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 2 mM glutamine, 100 U mL⁻¹ penicillin, and 100 mg mL⁻¹ streptomycin at 37 °C and 5% CO₂.

All experiments conducted have been *in vitro*, and for the most part cell culture models were grown as 2D monolayers, but 3D spheroids were also formed for penetration assays.

Fluorescent compounds

In this thesis, fluorescent compounds have served as the main analytical component and have been thoroughly used in all studies. Fluorescent compounds are fluorophores or fluorophore-bound substances that upon excitation with a certain wavelength of light emits light with a longer wavelength that can be detected by a detector. There is a wide range of fluorophores that emit light of different wavelengths and multiple fluorophores can therefore be used in an experiment to study multiple fluorescent compounds simultaneously. The studies outlined in this thesis primarily used widefield fluorescence microscopy that excites the samples with non-coherent light (here LED), or confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM) that rapidly scans the samples with a coherent laser beam. Using either platform, labeled compounds can be visualized and localized in the imaged cells for subsequent analysis. Below are some of the main compounds that were used in the studies.

RNA – Payload to be quantified

In almost all studies in this thesis, the RNA has been labeled with a fluorophore. This provides the possibility to study the uptake and distribution of RNA within different compartments of the cell. It also allows for visualization of dynamic cellular processes, offering real-time insight into the intracellular fate of RNA. Most importantly, the fluorescent signal can be quantified, enabling a precise assessment of endosomal escape and cytosolic release of RNA.

eGFP – Target in knockdown assays

For knockdown experiments, a monoclonal HeLa cell line stably expressing a destabilized enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) was used to study knockdown kinetics following siRNA treatment. The destabilized property (conjugation of a proteasomal targeting sequence to the protein) decreases the half-life of the protein and in **Paper II** the half-life was confirmed to be ~1 h for the established HeLa cell line, which makes it useful for rapid knockdown readouts that is desired for live-cell imaging studies.

Galectins – Markers of endosomal damage

For studies involving endosomal release, a monoclonal HeLa cell line stably expressing a yellow fluorescent protein (YFP) labeled galectin-9 protein was primarily used to study damages vesicles. As previously discussed, a subset of proteins from the family of galectins interacts with β -galactoside-containing glycans

within the endosomal membrane that becomes exposed upon endosomal damage. Fluorescently labeled galectins can thus be used as a marker of endosomal membrane damage. In **Paper I**, galectin-9 was determined to be the most abundant and rapidly recruited marker to damaged endosomes when investigating over expression of galectin-1, -3, -8, and -9.

Compartment markers – Identifying the compartment of release

For endosomal compartment studies, a range of compartment markers were used. At different stages of endosomal maturation, distinct proteins accumulate on the endosomes and can be used to probe compartment characterization. In the most relevant studies performed, early endosome 1 (EEA1) and Ras-related in brain 5 (Rab5) was used as early endosome markers, Rab7 and cluster of differentiation 63 (CD63) were used as a late endosomal marker, and lysosomal associated membrane protein 1 (LAMP1) was used as a lysosomal marker.

The study of endosomal release using widefield imaging

Image acquisition

In **Paper I** and **Paper III**, endosomal release was studied using live-cell imaging with widefield fluorescence microscopy (Figure 7). HeLa cells stably expressing a fluorescently labeled galectin-9 was primarily used to probe endosomal damage, but other transiently expressed markers were also used to some extent. To investigate compartment of release, plasmids encoding for the specific compartment marker were electroporated prior to image acquisition. To capture the fast movement of intracellular vesicles and the sudden moment of endosomal damage marked by fluorescently labeled galectin recruitment, high-temporal resolution imaging was used. As vesicles can be present in virtually the entire spatial extent of the cytoplasm of the cell and move in all directions, z-stacks encompassing a large part of the cell was captured. Typically, each frame consisted of 20-30 planes acquired as a z-stack with 300-500-nm intervals. Each frame was captured at a rate of one z-stack every few seconds (generally 2-3 s)over an acquisition period of ~10-20 min. The intensity of the LED lights was kept at a minimum and constant between the experiments.



Figure 7. Galectin-9 recruitment to damaged siRNA-LNP containing vesicle using live-cell imaging.

HeLa cells stably expressing YFP-galectin-9 were incubated with fluorescently labeled siRNA-LNPs during live-cell imaging with widefield fluorescence microscopy. Images were acquired every 2.2 s for 10 min. Image sequence shows *de novo* recruitment of galectin-9 to a siRNA-LNP containing vesicle, indicated by arrowheads. Time = 0 s indicate first frame with detectable galectin recruitment. Scale bar is 2 μ m.

For high-temporal resolution imaging, mechanical filters cannot be used due to their limited speed of movement. A beam splitter system was therefore used for studies were the fluorophores used could cause cross-excitation, *i.e.*, when the excitation and emission spectra of two or more fluorophores overlap, causing unintended fluorophore excitation resulting in image and quantification artifacts. In brief, the beam splitter separates low, medium, and high wavelengths of light to defined regions of the camera detector, making it possible to obtain fluorescent signal devoid of so-called cross-excitation and bleed-through artifacts at a cost of a reduced field of view (FOV). Typically, the beam splitter was used for compartment studies when three fluorescent compounds were used: galectin, compartment marker, and RNA.

For long-term acquisition, *e.g.*, the study of LNP internalization and galectin-9 response in **Paper III**, similar acquisition settings were used but with a considerably lower frame-rate.

Image processing and analysis

After image acquisition, the acquired image sequence was processed for subsequent analysis and quantification of single endosomal release, which involved the use of a custom-made processing and analysis application (referred to as App) created in Matlab. For full documentation on the procedure, please see the "code availability" section in the online version of **Paper I**. In brief, each image *z*-stack in the resulting image sequence was deconvoluted to enhance the resolution and contrast of each frame and remove unwanted blur and out-of-focus light caused by the widefield microscope. Deconvolution is a computational process that uses a point spread function (PSF) which is a mathematical function of how a point source of light of a given wavelength spreads in the optical axis of the microscope. Thus, for each fluorophore used in the image, the computational process uses the captured point spread in the image *z*-stack and the PSF for the given fluorophore to iteratively reduce blur and obtain a high-resolution image by calculating the point of origin of the detected light in the image.

To investigate damaged endosomes, maximum intensity projections (MIP) of the deconvolved *z*-stacks was first generated, which essentially creates a 2-dimensional image of the 3-dimensional *z*-stack. Each cell was then manually investigated for endosomal perturbations and *de novo* recruitment of fluorescent galectin was flagged in Fiji (an open source image processing software). Using the App, region-of-interest crops (ROIs) were generated for each flagged vesicle damage for inspection and single vesicle tracking in accordance with the purpose of the given study, *e.g.*, endosomal release kinetics or compartment of release. To probe endosomal escape, vesicles containing *e.g.*, RNA payload was first traced from the timepoint of appearance and traced for as many frames as possible. In brief, the App then identifies the t_0 and the *x*, *y*, and *z* position for the appearing galectin foci, and an object mask is fitted to the object in the plane of maximum intensity within the volume for subsequent quantification of fluorescent signal from the compound of interest.

The study of single-cell dose-response using confocal imaging

Image acquisition

In Paper II, single-cell dose-response of cytosolic siRNA delivery was studied using live-cell imaging with a CLSM 710 with an Airyscan detector unit (Zeiss). One of the main advantages with confocal imaging is its ability to produce highcontrast images of the focal plane while removing out-of-focus light. For the purpose of measuring fluorescent signal within a cell, as in this study, such technical traits are favourable to perform accurate and comparable fluorescent quantifications. Additionally, to capture weak signal from the limited release of fluorescently labeled siRNA, we took advantage of a GaAsP (gallium arsenide phosphide) array-confocal detector called Airyscan, which is normally used for super resolution imaging. This detector has a higher dynamic range than conventional detectors which means that it is able to capture very weak fluorescent signals despite the presence of very strong signals in the other parts of the frame. In this study it was used a conventional detector (non-super resolution), maximizing the FOV beyond recommended settings. This caused notable vignetting in the image with cells in the periphery appearing less fluorescent. This issue was corrected using a post-acquisition processing script in which a z-stack of fluorescent siRNA capturing the phenomena was used as a reference sample.

HeLa cells stably expressing eGFP was used for all dose-response quantifications. Upon image acquisition, cells were treated with lipoplexes of fluorescent siRNA that were formed with transfection lipids. These lipoplexes are usually 1 μ m or larger and are easily distinguished as fluorescent aggregates in the sample. Upon

interaction with the cell membrane, these lipoplexes are endocytosed. At some point, the lipids subsequently interacts with the endosomal membrane and deliver a rapid bolus-like release of the fluorescent siRNA to the cytosol (Figure 8), filling the cytosol with a homogenous fluorescent signal emitting from the labeled siRNA¹²⁶. To capture this sudden release of fluorescent siRNA, two *z*-plane images were acquired at 5 min intervals. One of the *z*-planes were acquired in the lower third of the cell to capture the largest area of the cell to maximize quantification of cytosolic siRNA fluorescence. The second *z*-plane was captured 4 μ m above to mask hazy fluorescence from potential lipoplexes outside of the focal plane. A nuclear stain was additionally used to facilitate tracking of the cells and to quantify the knockdown of the eGFP protein. Typically, 4-6 positions of sparse and evenly distributed cells were selected per acquisition, with one position being untreated cells. Images were acquired for 12-32 h.



Figure 8. Cytosolic delivery of siRNA in eGFP expressing cell using confocal live-cell imaging. HeLa cells stably expressing eGFP were incubated with lipoplexes of fluorescently labeled siRNA during live-cell imaging with confocal microscopy. Images were acquired every 5 min for 20 h. Image sequence shows sudden endosomal release of siRNA filling the cytosol of the cell at t = 0 min and subsequent knockdown of the eGFP protein. Outline indicates cell boundary. Scale bar is 20 µm.

Image processing and analysis

After time-lapse image acquisition, a custom-made analysis pipeline was used for image processing and analysis. The pipeline consists of a denoise-step in Fiji, tracking and fluorescent quantification of single cells in Cellprofiler, and further processing and analysis in a custom-made application created in Matlab. For full documentation of the pipeline, please see the "code availability" section in the online version of **Paper II**. Below is a very brief summary of the main steps in the pipeline.

CellProfiler is an open source software for cell image analysis and were used to trace each cell and quantify the fluorescent signal in the lower *z*-plane. In brief, cells were traced using the nuclear signal as an object for tracking. The nuclear signal was also used as a mask to measure the eGFP fluorescence, providing a stable region to measure throughout the acquisition. The eGFP fluorescence was used to segment the cells, *i.e.*, to obtain the cell boundary for subsequent cytosolic siRNA

fluorescence quantifications. To limit the siRNA fluorescence measurements to the cytosolic region, the cell segments were further masked from bright lipoplexes and the nucleus.

After single-cell quantification, automated detection of siRNA release events were performed by identifying sudden signal fluctuations in the fluorescent siRNA measurements. To discard false positives, a manual control step was performed. Using the custom-made application, identified release events were collated into individual ROIs and each detected release event was classified. The event could either be classified as a true positive or a false positive event, or the event was disqualified if a previous undetected event was suspected. After all events were classified, the magnitude of the siRNA signal was translated into siRNA concentration, using a 1000 nM siRNA reference measurement acquired before each experiment with time-lapse image acquisition.

The study of intracellular dose-response using RT-qPCR

In **Paper IV**, the dose-response relationship between cytosolic siRNA and target gene was studied using RT-qPCR. RT-qPCR is a very sensitive method and low amounts of target RNA can be quantified with high accuracy. The method is, however, restricted to quantifying RNA molecules longer than the PCR primers used, usually limiting the target RNAs to be no longer than 30-40 nucleotides. Therefore, siRNAs cannot be analysed with conventional primers. A key step in the method presented in **Paper IV** is adapted from a previous study that designed a two-tailed RT primer to synthesize complementary DNA (cDNA) of specific miRNA targets¹⁶⁹.

The two-tailed RT-primer is a \sim 50 nucleotides long RNA sequence that is folded into a hairpin structure. The hairpin structure has two hemiprobes at each end. The 3'- and 5'-hemiprobes consists of a few nucleotides that are designed to target the respective ends of the siRNA antisense strand, while the hairpin structure will impede other nonspecific interactions. When the hairpin structure and the siRNA antisense strand forms a complex, reverse transcriptase enzymes can initiate elongation to produce a cDNA product. The cDNA can then be quantified and analysed by RT-qPCR using two target specific primers against the cDNA sequence in combination with conventional SYBR-Green chemistry.

To deliver siRNA to recipient cells, electroporation mediated delivery was performed using a Neon Transfection System. This procedure bypass the inefficient step of endosomal escape and provides controlled dosing of siRNA to the cytosol. To block residual siRNA amounts from binding to the cell surface, cells were washed with PBS supplemented with dextran sulfate and salmon sperm DNA. Cells were then lysed and RNA content was purified for subsequent cDNA synthesis using the designed two-tailed RT primer targeting the siRNA sequence. Synthesized cDNA product was analysed with a RT-qPCR system using specific primers to amplify the cDNA product.

Results

Paper I – Imaging small molecule-induced endosomal escape of siRNA

Introduction – Membrane destabilizing compounds could be a potential avenue to enhance release of entrapped siRNA within endosomal compartments. Three smallmolecule drugs: chloroquine, siramesine and amitriptyline with membranedestabilizing properties were thus investigated for enhanced delivery of ligandconjugated siRNA. To probe endosomal escape, a novel live-cell imaging method was developed using cells overexpressing a fluorescently labeled membrane damage sensor (galectins).

Results - Galectin-9 was most abundant and rapid for recruitment of membrane damage after evaluating galectin-1, -3, -8, and -9 as potential membrane damage sensors, when investigated by fluorescent confocal imaging. Thus, galectin-9 was subsequently used as membrane damage sensor for live-cell imaging experiments. Chloroquine, siramesine, and amitriptyline enhanced chol-siGFP knockdown and the effect was most pronounced >24 h treatment. Chloroquine was most effective, lowering the chol-siGFP half-maximal inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) ~17-fold, while inducing similar number of damages as siramesine (\sim 4-fold improved IC₅₀). Similar chol-siGFP knockdown was achieved independent if amitriptyline, siramesine, or chloroquine was started 6-h before, 6-h after, or at the same time as chol-siGFP treatment, indicative of a broad window for improving target knockdown. Treatments on cells with internalized dextran further showed a higher degree of release when treated with chloroquine compared to siramesine, despite similar number of damages. When investigating dextran release from single vesicles, chloroquine damaged vesicles with overall higher dextran of dextrancontaining vesicles, compared to siramesine. Investigating single-vesicle release of chol-siRNA showed efficient release in both siramesine and choloquine, but chloroquine generally targeted siRNA containing vesicles to a larger extent. Mapping damaged endosomal compartments revealed a broad range of endosomal compartments targeted by both chloroquine and siramesine, with 30-45% being late endosomal compartments. Taken together, the multiple endolysosomal compartments targeted by the small molecule drugs can explain the mis-match between the damaged compartment and the siRNA containing compartments (low hit-rate) for in particular siramesine and differences between cholorquine and siramesine knockdown enhancement. Small molecule induced release of cholsiGFP was further shown to be dependent on cell-type, when investigating their effects in MCF7 cells compared to HeLa cells. Finally, knockdown experiments were performed in tumor cell spheroids after treatment with the three compounds, with chloroquine having the most pronounced effect and being most effective throughout the spheroid.

Paper II – Single-cell quantification and dose-response of cytosolic delivery

Introduction – Because of the lack of suitable methods to quantify cytosolic amounts of delivered siRNA, the dose-response relationship between cytosol delivered siRNA and knockdown of the target gene have been difficult to establish. Thus, current evaluation of potential delivery strategies has generally relied on techniques that cannot discriminate between delivery efficiency by the delivery strategy and siRNA sequence potency, making it difficult to identify conceivable improvements. The establishment of a method that can quantify cytosol amounts of siRNA and corresponding knockdown of a protein would therefore be of great value. Here, we developed a live-cell imaging-based strategy using confocal microscopy to quantify single-cell dose-response of cytosolic siRNA and subsequent knockdown of a destabilized eGFP protein.

Results - Cytosolic delivery of sub-nanomolar doses of siRNA delivered with lipofectamine 2000 were validated to be detectable with an Airyscan confocal imaging system and quantified with a custom-made pipeline for single cell analysis. Automated detection of sudden signal increases, indicative of cytosol siRNA release, were evaluated in terms of sensitivity and specificity, using galectin-9 colocalization with siRNA-lipoplexes as a reference, and estimated to be 95% and 97% respectively, when combined with a manual quality control step. To acquire reliable absolute siRNA release amounts and quantitation confidence, a mathematical model was applied that fits measured release events based on kinetics of the changes in the measured cytosolic siRNA signal after release. Investigating various siRNA-to-lipid ratios with two different siGFP sequences revealed similar release amounts between the sequences but the release magnitude was highly dependent on the ratio between siRNA and lipid. Time of release was relatively independent and adding more lipoplexes generally resulted in more release events occurring more rapidly. Typically, quantified release events of 1 nM or more were above a model fit of $R^2 = 0.75$ for both siGFP sequences, indicative of low estimated measurement uncertainties meaning data from individual cells could be used for downstream analysis. Collating highly reliable data from multiple experiments with varying doses revealed a clear dose-response relationship for both sequences. The cytosolic siRNA dose clearly affected knockdown induction kinetics, knockdown depth (nadir), and knockdown duration. At the time point when knockdown had reached nadir, the absolute IC₅₀ for cytosolic siRNA was estimated to 0.31 nM (~1000 siRNA molecules) and 2.29 nM (~7000 siRNA molecules) for the potent

and the less potent siGFP sequence, respectively. Estimated IC₅₀ was further highly analogous to a more advanced mathematical modelling based estimation of IC₅₀ based on all time points, indicating the robustness of the experimentally derived IC₅₀ values.

Paper III – Live-cell imaging of cytosolic RNA delivery with lipid nanoparticles reveals cellular and biophysical barriers

Introduction – LNPs is the clinically most advanced delivery platform for RNA therapeutics. However, while several RNA-LNP therapies are currently under clinical development and evaluation, limited capacity to facilitate cytosolic delivery of RNA payload restrict the potency of LNP based therapies, especially for extrahepatic tissues and tumors. This is, in part, due to the unclear mechanism behind the endosomal escape of LNP-delivered payload and a lack of understanding of why only a small fraction of RNA reach the cell cytoplasm. Thus, knowledge about the sorting, integrity and endosomal escape of LNPs carrying siRNA and mRNA could potentially clarify current bottlenecks and would be of great value for improving delivery of future LNP-based therapies.

Results - MC3-LNPs were initially investigated for induction of membrane damages. Using live-cell imaging with widefield microscopy, both MC3-LNPs carrying siRNA and mRNA triggered rapid cellular uptake and dose-dependent galectin-9, indicative of galectin-9⁺ endosomal damages being a potential route to functional cytosolic delivery of LNP-formulated RNAs. Investigating single LNP damaged vesicles identified by galectin-9 with fast live-microscopy (method adapted from Paper I), revealed similar RNA release kinetics between siRNA- and mRNA-LNPs, with a higher release magnitude when individual release events were sub-grouped between productive and unproductive events. Release kinetics were dose-dependent for siRNA-LNPs, with lower doses having a larger siRNA release fraction. Differences in the degree of RNA payload content in the damaged vesicles were also observed between siRNA-LNPs (70% of damaged vesicles containing siRNA) and mRNA-LNPs (20%). These differences were clarified to be independent of specific experimental conditions and probably caused by segregation of the ionizable lipids and the RNA payload. Probing RNA release of endosomal damages recruiting the ESCRT machinery, showed that some vesicles recruit CHMP2A (ESCRT component) in absence of galectin-9, but no endosomal release of siRNA payload could be observed. However, downregulating components of ESCRT resulted in an increased number of galectin-9 foci forming, indicative of the plausible importance of ESCRT for vesicle integrity. Looking at a number of different endosomal markers in parallel with galectin-9 recruitment demonstrated that MC3-LNPs primarily damage Rab5⁺EEA1^{+/-}early endosomes for both mRNA and siRNA payloads. Using super-resolution microscopy, the integrity of the RNA-LNPs were further visualized and disintegration of the particle could be appreciated

during endosomal maturation for both siRNA and mRNA, *i.e.*, being confined (as in intact particles) in EEA1⁺ structures and gradually more disintegrated in later endosomal structures. Finally, assessing the sub-endosomal siRNA localization with CHMP2A or galectin-9 recruitment on fixed cells revealed an extremely close association between RNA payload (semi-intact particles) and the membrane damage sensor, suggesting nano-domain colocalization of ionizable lipid at the site of membrane damage on the endosomal membrane.

Paper IV – Intracellular dose-response determination of siRNA by twotailed RT-PCR of electroporated cells

Introduction – Despite the rapid advancement of nucleic acid therapeutics entering clinical use, there is a high demand on delivery strategies that can deliver its payload to tissues beyond the liver. Thus, novel delivery platforms for other tissues are actively being proposed to broaden the range of treatable tissues. But, as described above, effective tools to determine the intracellular dose-response of an RNA compound is currently lacking and its thereby difficult to determine the efficiency of current delivery techniques and to estimate the amounts of cytosol delivered siRNA that is required for a desired pharmacological effect. Previous presented methods for such elucidation have either suffered from various limitation or been extremely demanding in terms of equipment, workload, and analysis (Paper II). Therefore, a widely applicable method for determining the dose-response of cytosolic siRNA would be of great value. Here, we have developed an RT-qPCRbased strategy using a previously described two-tailed RT primer (referred to as probe) designed to detect a specific siRNA for subsequent qPCR amplification and determination of the number of siRNA copies per cell after electroporationmediated delivery. The biological outcome after electroporation could then be compared to the number of cytosolic molecules for dose-response determination.

Results – The probe was initially evaluated for specificity towards the target siRNA and was found to be highly specific, showing a strong positive readout using RTqPCR (lower Ct values than control sample without target template). The Ct readout was unaffected when introducing non-target, demonstrating satisfactory specificity for the target siRNA. When investigating if electroporation mediated delivery could be used for specific delivery of siRNA to the cytosol, we found that this was indeed possible, with no obvious non-cytosolic signal. Fluorescently tagged siRNA could be detected within single cells when imaged with confocal microscopy, sharing similar characteristics as bolus-like releases of siRNA delivered to the cytosol described in **Paper II**. Electroporating various doses of siRNA into HeLa cells expressing the siRNA targeted eGFP protein, revealed dose-dependent knockdown when quantified by flow cytometry, demonstrating the possibility to establish cytosol specific IC₅₀ for a particular siRNA sequence. Thus, HeLa cells were electroporated with siRNA doses within the dose-response interval and subsequently quantified with RT-qPCR utilizing the probe, to elucidate the number of copies per cell. Using a reference curve, it could be determined that $\sim 3 \times 10^4$ cytosolic siRNA copies resulted in close to maximal knockdown, while $\sim 3 \times 10^2 - 3 \times 10^4$ resulted in dose-dependent knockdown and cells with less cytosolic copies were virtually unaffected. With the measured concentrations the intracellular IC₅₀ of the siRNA was estimated to be ~ 2800 cytosolic siRNA copies.

Conclusions and discussion

In this thesis, lipid mediated delivery of siRNA, but also mRNA, has been studied with the purpose of identifying novel avenues to detect and improve endosomal escape of RNA to the cytosol. Below, conclusions and implications of these efforts are briefly summarized.

Imaging small molecule-induced endosomal escape of siRNA

In **Paper I**, a novel method is presented to gain a better understanding of the endosomal escape bottleneck – one of the main limiting steps for delivery of RNA therapeutics. Using live-cell imaging in combination with the highly sensitive membrane damage sensor galectin-9, which is also identified in the paper as a marker for rapid recruitment to damaged endosomes, fundamental properties of endosomal escape can be probed. With the established method, drug-induced endosomal escape of chol-siRNA is assessed, using small molecule drugs with membrane destabilizing properties. Previous studies have investigated the use of such drugs and concluded improved knockdown of both chol-siRNA and LNPsiRNA delivery, but without being able to dissect the role of these small molecules^{157, 170}, e.g., do they facilitate improved uptake or is endosomal escape improved? Visualizing endosomal escape allows for such investigations, and in Paper I the role of cholorquine, siramesine, (and amitriptyline to some extent) in chol-siRNA delivery is thoroughly addressed. By investigating ~2000 damage events, chloroquine and siramesine are shown to damage a wide range of vesicles in the endosomal system, mainly triggering damage on later endosomal and lysosomal structures. Importantly, the method reveals why there is a substantial knockdown enhancement using chloroquine but not to the same extent using siramesine. Indeed, investigating the hit-rate of chol-siRNA⁺ vesicles, chloroquine is clearly superior over siramesine, damaging at least twice as many cargo containing vesicles. The analysis further reveals substantial mismatch between cargo containing vesicles and damaged vesicles, revealing the possibility to also identify mechanisms behand the observed inefficiencies using this method. This aspect is further pursued in Paper III.

To conclude, the presented method in **Paper I** is able to investigate the rate limiting step of endosomal escape with increased resolution, pinpointing efficiencies and limitations of RNA delivery strategies and potential inducers of endosomal escape. Thus, it will likely be an important contributor in the pursuit of identifying novel delivery strategies to improve delivery of RNA therapeutics.

Elucidating the dose-response relationship between cytosol siRNA and target gene

In Paper II and Paper IV, two novel methods are presented for elucidating the dose-response relationship between cytosolic siRNA and target gene – a previously not-well defined relationship that if attained could aid the development and characterization of novel delivery strategies. In **Paper II**, the method is based on a confocal live-cell imaging technique, while the method in Paper IV is based on conventional RT-qPCR. It is shown that the intracellular IC₅₀ of an siRNA sequence with clinically relevant potency is approximately 2800 or 1000 siRNA molecules per cell, for Paper II and Paper IV respectively. Previous estimations investigating the cytosolic IC₅₀ of another target gene using gold-labeled siRNA concluded between 2000-4000 siRNA molecules¹⁴³, which is in close agreement with our results. Other studies using Ago2-immuno precipitation concluded 10-110 RISCloaded siRNA molecules¹⁷¹, but with unknown RISC loading efficiencies. Furthermore, close to maximal knockdown induction with less accurate cytosolic siRNA estimations (~1.6 nM) from a previous study using the same siRNA sequence¹²⁶, is additionally in close relationship with that of in **Paper II** (\sim 3 nM) and Paper IV.

In **Paper II**, knockdown induction is measured over several hours after a single siRNA bolus-like release has been delivered to the cytosol. This continuous measurement and cell-to-cell variability that is attained, revealed that IC_{50} is a dynamic concept that is dependent on time of siRNA release in addition to the potency of the siRNA sequence. Previous dose-response studies have relied on single time-point measurements, thus unable to distinguish such dynamics¹⁷². We could determine that knockdown induction, depth and duration are highly affected by dose, with higher doses having a more rapid induction, increased depth, and increased duration. Independent of dose, the knockdown nadir is reached 10-15 hours after siRNA release.

While it is not conceivable to acquire the same dynamic resolution in **Paper IV** as in **Paper II**, we show that with a fairly simple method that can be performed in most labs, it is possible to determine the dose-response relationship of an siRNA sequence with possibly similar accuracy as a highly advanced confocal imaging-based method, reducing workload significantly. The two studies reach similar IC₅₀ values, despite the use of different delivery strategies (transfection lipids in **Paper II**, and electroporation in **Paper IV**), indicating that the two delivery strategies do not seem to fundamentally affect the cytosolic handling of siRNA. However, such claims needs to be further studied. Importantly, the method in **Paper IV** can determine the IC₅₀ of label-free siRNA sequences, which allows for accurate measurements of native (un-labeled) siRNA molecules, reduces experimental complexity and will be more cost-effective.

A key limitation with the method in **Paper II** is the size limit of the delivery strategy. In the paper we use cationic transfection lipids that are easily distinguished in the cells when in complex with siRNA, and they release detectable amounts of siRNA into the cytosol. But, for other delivery strategies such as LNPs or bioconjugates, the resolution and sensitivity of the microscope would be too low to distinguish if the fluorescent signal is derived from intact particles or of free cytosolic siRNA. Thus, for evaluating delivery strategies of a few hundred nm, a single-molecule detection strategy would probably be required. An important limitation to highlight in **Paper IV** is the inability to assess cell-to-cell variability as all measurements are performed on 500,000 cells. The fact that some cells additionally die upon electroporation and that killed or lysed cells might bind significant amounts of siRNA, further complicate reliable IC_{50} estimations. Such error sources must be further clarified.

Other limitations for both **Paper II** and **Paper IV** is the use of a single cell line, a single target gene, and two siRNAs. Thus, it would be interesting to investigate how the intracellular dose-response varies in other cells, tissues, and with other target genes and siRNA sequences. Indeed, there is literature that indicate that gene knockdown by siRNA can depend on various factors such as cell type-specific variability in mRNA susceptibility¹⁷³, mitotic activity¹⁷⁴, target mRNA abundance¹⁷⁵, and the expression of Ago2¹⁷⁶. Such factors would be interesting to study from a dose-response perspective and is likely to be investigated in future studies using the now established methods in **Paper II** and **Paper IV**.

Cytosolic siRNA delivery with lipid nanoparticles reveals cellular and biophysical barriers

In **Paper III**, cytosolic delivery of clinically relevant MC3-LNPs carrying siRNA or mRNA is investigated. Using the established method in **Paper I** together with super-resolution microscopy, various aspects of LNP delivery is addressed.

Similar to previous observations investigating the release of RNA from LNPs^{126, 143}, only a small fraction of RNA payload carried by the LNPs is found to be released from disrupted vesicles, and is mainly released from Rab5⁺EEA1^{+/-}early endosomes for both siRNA and mRNA payload. However, a substantial fraction of damaged endosomes did not carry any RNA, especially for mRNA payload, implying that only relying on the number of galectin-9 positive vesicles will not directly represent the capacity to successfully deliver RNA to the cytosol, for a studied delivery strategy. Additionally, the payload and the LNP formulation itself seems to have a profound effect on productive delivery, and one could imagine that multicomponent RNA formulations used for *e.g.* CRISPR-system will be even more

challenging to achieve sufficient delivery for. The reason why we observe damaged endosomes with no RNA payload, and why there is differences in this phenomenon between siRNA payload and mRNA payload, can be discussed. There are limitations when it comes to the sensitivity of the microscopy assay, but as both mRNA-LNPs and siRNA-LNPs are detected as intact single particles, there is confidence that the lack of RNA signal in the damaged endosomes is indeed because of the absence of RNA payload. Using super-resolution microscopy, gradual disintegration of RNA-LNPs can be appreciated for the first time during endosomal trafficking. The separation of ionizable lipid and RNA payload into separate endosomal compartments can also be observed with this image resolution, supporting the concept that damaged endosomes not carrying any RNA could be the result of segregated ionizable lipids causing unproductive damage.

It is still not clear how the intralumenal RNA payload escapes into the cytosol after LNP induced endosomal membrane damage. However, the preceding phase which involve the protonation of the ionizable lipid and subsequent interaction with the endosomal membrane causing a hexagonal lipid phase transition, is believed to be the initial key step^{141, 142}. As seen in **Paper I**, galectin-9 accumulates at endosomal damages during release of dextran (similar molecular weight as siRNA) when induced by small molecule drugs. The intraluminal binding of galectins to β -galactoside-containing glycans¹²⁵ additionally suggests that recruitment of galectin is a consequence of larger membrane damages, while the ESCRT machinery might sense smaller pertubations¹²⁷. In **Paper III** we propose that the LNPs are partially disintegrated, and free intralumenal RNA is released through disruptions in the endosomal membrane, triggered as ionizable lipids are enriched locally in the lipid bilayer. This theory would support why there is only partial RNA release, as the remaining RNA would be trapped in the partially disintegrated LNP.

As previously mentioned, the ESCRT machinery detected membrane perturbations induced by RNA-LNPs that did not recruit any galectins, but those damages did not promote any cytosolic release of siRNA. It could be that the damages that recruit ESCRT are too small to release any RNA payload, or that the damage is rapidly repaired by the ESCRT membrane repair system. In **Paper III**, knockdown of key ESCRT-components resulted in increased galectin-9⁺ foci, plausibly indicating that smaller damages that are not repaired eventually leads to larger damages. However, this effect is rather modest which could possibly be explained by substantial functional redundancy of the ESCRT system.

In conclusion, in **Paper III** we demonstrate a number of mechanistic barriers for LNP mediated delivery of RNA which limits effective delivery of siRNA and mRNA. The hope is that this work will provide a better understanding of LNP delivery systems in the pursuit to ultimately enable LNPs to efficiently deliver RNA therapeutics to extrahepatic targets.

Future perspectives

Intracellular delivery of RNA therapeutics is presently not well understood, and the need for tools to address this gap of knowledge is required to aid prospective RNA therapeutics to become more effective. In this thesis, novel methods to detect and quantify endosomal escape and cytosolic delivery of siRNA are presented.

The method in **Paper I** provides the means to address momentaneous release of RNA payload from the releasing endosome. Such tool will likely be a valuable asset to characterize delivery with other payloads or delivery strategies. Indeed, in both **Paper I** and **Paper III** two different delivery strategies are evaluated with the method, providing new insights into their respective characteristics. In **Paper II** and **Paper IV** we present two methods to quantify cytosolic delivery of siRNA and the subsequent knockdown of a target protein. With such measurements, the intracellular dose-response of RNA therapeutics can now be established to assess delivery efficiencies and identify potential bottlenecks for improvements.

In this thesis, endosomal release of lipid mediated siRNA and mRNA delivery have been explored, but it would be interesting to apply these methods to other delivery systems and perhaps with other forms of payload as well. Indeed, it is still unknown how bioconjugates such as the GalNAc conjugate is released from the endosome and if such release can be probed by the presented methods. It could be that they are released through other routes by mechanisms that do not trigger galectin recruitment or the ESCRT machinery, requiring other means of detection. The delivery of payloads such a CRISPR-Cas systems would also be interesting to address, as they are multicomponent systems that require all components to be released from the endosome to become therapeutically active. With the toolbox developed in this thesis, such delivery can now be explored. One strategy could be to exploit the timeresolved dose-response kinetics of cytosolic siRNA to obtain estimates of the cytosolic delivery during gymnotic siRNA delivery. Such estimates could then be used to further probe the mechanism of endosomal escape.

In the end, the hope is that the presented methods will provide new insights of the limitations of current delivery strategies and to guide improvements, to ultimately enhance RNA therapeutics delivery into target cells and currently unreachable tissues and organs.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank all the people that made this thesis possible. It has been quite a journey that would have been difficult to appreciate if not for you guys. You have all contributed in various ways, and your support has been indispensable.

My Supervisor **Anders** Wittrup. I would like to express my deepest gratitude, for your support and guidance throughout my PhD. Your expertise and encouragement have really been instrumental in shaping the direction and quality of this thesis. Thank you so much!

My co-supervisors: **Vinay** Swaminathan and **Pontus** Nordenfelt for fruitful discussions and for contributing with constructive input to the included manuscripts in this thesis.

To our collaborators: **Jonas** Wallin at the Department of Mathematical Statistics in Lund for your brilliant mathematical expertise that improved one of the manuscripts significantly in this thesis. And to **Lennart** Lindfors for great collaboration and productive discussions during the LNP project.

The Wittrup lab, it has been a joy being a part of such an amazing group of people. **Hampus**, ever since I joined the group you have been most supportive. You are a true inspiration and a great friend, and this thesis would have been very different without your magic. **Johanna**, it has been amazing to share office with you all these years. I cannot imagine a better office partner! Thank you for making every day so much more enjoyable, and for all help and support shaping this thesis. **Sten**, thank you for many laughs and good times. It is always a nice surprise when you visit the lab unannounced. **Myriam**, it is a bliss that you have joined the group. Thank you for all your expert advice in writing this thesis. **Wahed**, it has been nice having you as company in the cell-lab, especially when you remind me that it is Friday again. **Hanna**, thank you for your always uplifting attitude, it was a delight having you in the lab.

To the **Belting**, **Darabi**, **Jernström**, **Jirström**, **Rosendahl**, **Adrian research groups**, **Bosse**, and **Susanne**, thank you all for fruitful discussions, advice, good times, laughs, fika, and general support. Mattias, thank you for teaching me about "hardcore" science. Anna BR, it is always nice to hear your laughs throughout the corridors, thanks for the company. Maria, this floor would not function without you, thank you for everything. Valeria, Hugo, Kelin, Axel, Sara, Jiaxin and Ann-Sofie,

thank you for inspiring scientific exchange and for being great colleagues. Sara, Alexandra, Maja, and Hedda, thank you for inviting me in to your office for laughs and cookies. Björn, thank you for teaching me about all the heavy metal bands out there, my musical repertoire is much more comprehensive now. Bosse, I would not have been here without you. Thank you for answering my email and redirecting me to Anders as I was searching for a bachelor project. Susanne, thank you for your administrative support.

To **Powermetalbandet**: John, Petter, Tor, Erik, Martin, Jonas, Leon, Karim, Gustav, Per and other former members. Thank you for being the best powermetalband ever created. I close door now, let Frittan be re-opened.

Ellen, thank you for the never-ending support and encouragement. You are amazing! I love you!

To my **family**: Max, Ludde, mamma Tove, pappa Gunnar, Carl, and extended family. Thank you for all the love, support, understanding and encouragement!

References

- 1. Warburg, O. On the Origin of Cancer Cells. *Science* **123**, 309-314 (1956).
- 2. Levi, F., Lucchini, F., Negri, E., Boyle, P. & La Vecchia, C. Trends in mortality from Hodgkin's disease in western and eastern Europe. *Br J Cancer* **87**, 291-293 (2002).
- 3. Shen, G. et al. Anlotinib: a novel multi-targeting tyrosine kinase inhibitor in clinical development. *J Hematol Oncol* **11**, 120 (2018).
- 4. Hargadon, K.M., Johnson, C.E. & Williams, C.J. Immune checkpoint blockade therapy for cancer: An overview of FDA-approved immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Int Immunopharmacol* **62**, 29-39 (2018).
- 5. Thompson, M.G. et al. Interim Estimates of Vaccine Effectiveness of BNT162b2 and mRNA-1273 COVID-19 Vaccines in Preventing SARS-CoV-2 Infection Among Health Care Personnel, First Responders, and Other Essential and Frontline Workers - Eight U.S. Locations, December 2020-March 2021. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 70, 495-500 (2021).
- 6. Khvorova, A. & Watts, J.K. The chemical evolution of oligonucleotide therapies of clinical utility. *Nat Biotechnol* **35**, 238-248 (2017).
- 7. Fire, A. et al. Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature* **391**, 806-811 (1998).
- 8. Brown, C.R. et al. Investigating the pharmacodynamic durability of GalNAcsiRNA conjugates. *Nucleic Acids Res* **48**, 11827-11844 (2020).
- 9. Hannon, G.J. RNA interference. *Nature* **418**, 244-251 (2002).
- Lee, R.C., Feinbaum, R.L. & Ambros, V. The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell* 75, 843-854 (1993).
- 11. Elbashir, S.M. et al. Duplexes of 21-nucleotide RNAs mediate RNA interference in cultured mammalian cells. *Nature* **411**, 494-498 (2001).

- 12. Meister, G. & Tuschl, T. Mechanisms of gene silencing by double-stranded RNA. *Nature* **431**, 343-349 (2004).
- 13. Carthew, R.W. & Sontheimer, E.J. Origins and Mechanisms of miRNAs and siRNAs. *Cell* **136**, 642-655 (2009).
- Denli, A.M., Tops, B.B., Plasterk, R.H., Ketting, R.F. & Hannon, G.J. Processing of primary microRNAs by the Microprocessor complex. *Nature* 432, 231-235 (2004).
- 15. Lund, E., Guttinger, S., Calado, A., Dahlberg, J.E. & Kutay, U. Nuclear export of microRNA precursors. *Science* **303**, 95-98 (2004).
- 16. Hutvagner, G. et al. A cellular function for the RNA-interference enzyme Dicer in the maturation of the let-7 small temporal RNA. *Science* **293**, 834-838 (2001).
- 17. Schwarz, D.S. et al. Asymmetry in the assembly of the RNAi enzyme complex. *Cell* **115**, 199-208 (2003).
- MacRae, I.J., Ma, E., Zhou, M., Robinson, C.V. & Doudna, J.A. In vitro reconstitution of the human RISC-loading complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105, 512-517 (2008).
- 19. Kawamata, T. & Tomari, Y. Making RISC. *Trends Biochem Sci* **35**, 368-376 (2010).
- 20. Filipowicz, W. RNAi: the nuts and bolts of the RISC machine. *Cell* **122**, 17-20 (2005).
- 21. Lam, J.K., Chow, M.Y., Zhang, Y. & Leung, S.W. siRNA Versus miRNA as Therapeutics for Gene Silencing. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* **4**, e252 (2015).
- Scott, D.E., Bayly, A.R., Abell, C. & Skidmore, J. Small molecules, big targets: drug discovery faces the protein-protein interaction challenge. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 15, 533-550 (2016).
- 23. Zhu, Y., Zhu, L., Wang, X. & Jin, H. RNA-based therapeutics: an overview and prospectus. *Cell Death Dis* **13**, 644 (2022).
- 24. Damase, T.R. et al. The Limitless Future of RNA Therapeutics. *Front Bioeng Biotechnol* 9, 628137 (2021).
- 25. Brenner, S., Jacob, F. & Meselson, M. An unstable intermediate carrying information from genes to ribosomes for protein synthesis. *Nature* **190**, 576-581 (1961).

- 26. Chow, L.T., Gelinas, R.E., Broker, T.R. & Roberts, R.J. An amazing sequence arrangement at the 5' ends of adenovirus 2 messenger RNA. *Cell* **12**, 1-8 (1977).
- 27. Jinek, M. et al. A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. *Science* **337**, 816-821 (2012).
- 28. Petrocca, F. & Lieberman, J. Promise and challenge of RNA interference-based therapy for cancer. *J Clin Oncol* **29**, 747-754 (2011).
- Liang, X.H. et al. Translation efficiency of mRNAs is increased by antisense oligonucleotides targeting upstream open reading frames. *Nat Biotechnol* 34, 875-880 (2016).
- Liang, X.H. et al. Antisense oligonucleotides targeting translation inhibitory elements in 5' UTRs can selectively increase protein levels. *Nucleic Acids Res* 45, 9528-9546 (2017).
- 31. Crooke, S.T., Baker, B.F., Crooke, R.M. & Liang, X.H. Antisense technology: an overview and prospectus. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **20**, 427-453 (2021).
- 32. Liang, X.H., Sun, H., Nichols, J.G. & Crooke, S.T. RNase H1-Dependent Antisense Oligonucleotides Are Robustly Active in Directing RNA Cleavage in Both the Cytoplasm and the Nucleus. *Mol Ther* 25, 2075-2092 (2017).
- 33. Mulhbacher, J., St-Pierre, P. & Lafontaine, D.A. Therapeutic applications of ribozymes and riboswitches. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* **10**, 551-556 (2010).
- Sullivan, S.M. Development of ribozymes for gene therapy. *J Invest Dermatol* 103, 85S-89S (1994).
- 35. Ward, A.J., Norrbom, M., Chun, S., Bennett, C.F. & Rigo, F. Nonsense-mediated decay as a terminating mechanism for antisense oligonucleotides. *Nucleic Acids Res* **42**, 5871-5879 (2014).
- 36. Liang, X.H., Nichols, J.G., Hsu, C.W., Vickers, T.A. & Crooke, S.T. mRNA levels can be reduced by antisense oligonucleotides via no-go decay pathway. *Nucleic Acids Res* **47**, 6900-6916 (2019).
- 37. Melton, D.A. Injected anti-sense RNAs specifically block messenger RNA translation in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **82**, 144-148 (1985).
- 38. Baker, B.F. et al. 2'-O-(2-Methoxy)ethyl-modified anti-intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) oligonucleotides selectively increase the ICAM-1 mRNA level and inhibit formation of the ICAM-1 translation initiation complex in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 272, 11994-12000 (1997).

- Iversen, P.L., Arora, V., Acker, A.J., Mason, D.H. & Devi, G.R. Efficacy of antisense morpholino oligomer targeted to c-myc in prostate cancer xenograft murine model and a Phase I safety study in humans. *Clin Cancer Res* 9, 2510-2519 (2003).
- 40. Baker, B.F. et al. Oligonucleotide-europium complex conjugate designed to cleave the 5' cap structure of the ICAM-1 transcript potentiates antisense activity in cells. *Nucleic Acids Res* 27, 1547-1551 (1999).
- Vickers, T.A., Wyatt, J.R., Burckin, T., Bennett, C.F. & Freier, S.M. Fully modified 2' MOE oligonucleotides redirect polyadenylation. *Nucleic Acids Res* 29, 1293-1299 (2001).
- Hua, Y., Vickers, T.A., Baker, B.F., Bennett, C.F. & Krainer, A.R. Enhancement of SMN2 exon 7 inclusion by antisense oligonucleotides targeting the exon. *PLoS Biol* 5, e73 (2007).
- Hodges, D. & Crooke, S.T. Inhibition of splicing of wild-type and mutated luciferase-adenovirus pre-mRNAs by antisense oligonucleotides. *Mol Pharmacol* 48, 905-918 (1995).
- 44. Finkel, R.S. et al. Nusinersen versus Sham Control in Infantile-Onset Spinal Muscular Atrophy. *N Engl J Med* **377**, 1723-1732 (2017).
- 45. Orom, U.A., Kauppinen, S. & Lund, A.H. LNA-modified oligonucleotides mediate specific inhibition of microRNA function. *Gene* **372**, 137-141 (2006).
- 46. De Santi, C. et al. Precise Targeting of miRNA Sites Restores CFTR Activity in CF Bronchial Epithelial Cells. *Mol Ther* **28**, 1190-1199 (2020).
- 47. Zamore, P.D., Tuschl, T., Sharp, P.A. & Bartel, D.P. RNAi: double-stranded RNA directs the ATP-dependent cleavage of mRNA at 21 to 23 nucleotide intervals. *Cell* **101**, 25-33 (2000).
- 48. Wassenegger, M. The role of the RNAi machinery in heterochromatin formation. *Cell* **122**, 13-16 (2005).
- 49. Matzke, M.A. & Birchler, J.A. RNAi-mediated pathways in the nucleus. *Nat Rev Genet* 6, 24-35 (2005).
- Snead, N.M. et al. Molecular basis for improved gene silencing by Dicer substrate interfering RNA compared with other siRNA variants. *Nucleic Acids Res* 41, 6209-6221 (2013).

- Czech, B. et al. Hierarchical rules for Argonaute loading in Drosophila. *Mol Cell* 36, 445-456 (2009).
- 52. Khvorova, A., Reynolds, A. & Jayasena, S.D. Functional siRNAs and miRNAs exhibit strand bias. *Cell* **115**, 209-216 (2003).
- 53. Elbashir, S.M., Martinez, J., Patkaniowska, A., Lendeckel, W. & Tuschl, T. Functional anatomy of siRNAs for mediating efficient RNAi in Drosophila melanogaster embryo lysate. *EMBO J* **20**, 6877-6888 (2001).
- Parmar, R. et al. 5'-(E)-Vinylphosphonate: A Stable Phosphate Mimic Can Improve the RNAi Activity of siRNA-GalNAc Conjugates. *Chembiochem* 17, 985-989 (2016).
- 55. Sano, M. et al. Effect of asymmetric terminal structures of short RNA duplexes on the RNA interference activity and strand selection. *Nucleic Acids Res* **36**, 5812-5821 (2008).
- Reynolds, A. et al. Rational siRNA design for RNA interference. *Nat Biotechnol* 22, 326-330 (2004).
- Salomon, W.E., Jolly, S.M., Moore, M.J., Zamore, P.D. & Serebrov, V. Single-Molecule Imaging Reveals that Argonaute Reshapes the Binding Properties of Its Nucleic Acid Guides. *Cell* 162, 84-95 (2015).
- 58. Schirle, N.T. et al. Structural Analysis of Human Argonaute-2 Bound to a Modified siRNA Guide. *J Am Chem Soc* **138**, 8694-8697 (2016).
- 59. Long, D. et al. Potent effect of target structure on microRNA function. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* **14**, 287-294 (2007).
- 60. Zuker, M. Mfold web server for nucleic acid folding and hybridization prediction. *Nucleic Acids Res* **31**, 3406-3415 (2003).
- 61. Camacho, C. et al. BLAST+: architecture and applications. *BMC Bioinformatics* **10**, 421 (2009).
- 62. Soucek, L. & Evan, G.I. The ups and downs of Myc biology. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* **20**, 91-95 (2010).
- 63. Baumer, S. et al. Antibody-mediated delivery of anti-KRAS-siRNA in vivo overcomes therapy resistance in colon cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* **21**, 1383-1394 (2015).
- 64. Wang, Y.H. et al. Knockdown of c-Myc expression by RNAi inhibits MCF-7 breast tumor cells growth in vitro and in vivo. *Breast Cancer Res* 7, R220-228 (2005).
- 65. Adams, D. et al. Patisiran, an RNAi Therapeutic, for Hereditary Transthyretin Amyloidosis. *N Engl J Med* **379**, 11-21 (2018).
- 66. Garrelfs, S.F. et al. Lumasiran, an RNAi Therapeutic for Primary Hyperoxaluria Type 1. *N Engl J Med* **384**, 1216-1226 (2021).
- 67. Mercuri, E. et al. Nusinersen versus Sham Control in Later-Onset Spinal Muscular Atrophy. *N Engl J Med* **378**, 625-635 (2018).
- 68. Ray, K.K. et al. Inclisiran in Patients at High Cardiovascular Risk with Elevated LDL Cholesterol. *N Engl J Med* **376**, 1430-1440 (2017).
- 69. Balwani, M. et al. Phase 3 Trial of RNAi Therapeutic Givosiran for Acute Intermittent Porphyria. *N Engl J Med* **382**, 2289-2301 (2020).
- 70. Gebert, L.F.R. & MacRae, I.J. Regulation of microRNA function in animals. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **20**, 21-37 (2019).
- 71. Hart, M. et al. miR-34a as hub of T cell regulation networks. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer* 7, 187 (2019).
- 72. van Rooij, E. & Kauppinen, S. Development of microRNA therapeutics is coming of age. *EMBO Mol Med* 6, 851-864 (2014).
- 73. Kim, T. & Croce, C.M. MicroRNA: trends in clinical trials of cancer diagnosis and therapy strategies. *Exp Mol Med* **55**, 1314-1321 (2023).
- 74. He, L. et al. A microRNA component of the p53 tumour suppressor network. *Nature* **447**, 1130-1134 (2007).
- 75. Rokavec, M., Li, H., Jiang, L. & Hermeking, H. The p53/miR-34 axis in development and disease. *J Mol Cell Biol* **6**, 214-230 (2014).
- 76. Trang, P. et al. Systemic delivery of tumor suppressor microRNA mimics using a neutral lipid emulsion inhibits lung tumors in mice. *Mol Ther* 19, 1116-1122 (2011).
- 77. Wolff, J.A. et al. Direct Gene Transfer into Mouse Muscle in Vivo. *Science* 247, 1465-1468 (1990).

- 78. Pastor, F. et al. An RNA toolbox for cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **17**, 751-767 (2018).
- 79. Park, J.W., Lagniton, P.N.P., Liu, Y. & Xu, R.H. mRNA vaccines for COVID-19: what, why and how. *Int J Biol Sci* **17**, 1446-1460 (2021).
- 80. Cafri, G. et al. mRNA vaccine-induced neoantigen-specific T cell immunity in patients with gastrointestinal cancer. *J Clin Invest* **130**, 5976-5988 (2020).
- 81. Borch, T.H. et al. mRNA-transfected dendritic cell vaccine in combination with metronomic cyclophosphamide as treatment for patients with advanced malignant melanoma. *OncoImmunology* **5**, e1207842 (2016).
- 82. Vik-Mo, E.O. et al. Therapeutic vaccination against autologous cancer stem cells with mRNA-transfected dendritic cells in patients with glioblastoma. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy* **62**, 1499-1509 (2013).
- Khoury, H.J. et al. Immune responses and long-term disease recurrence status after telomerase-based dendritic cell immunotherapy in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer* 123, 3061-3072 (2017).
- 84. Rittig, S.M. et al. Long-term survival correlates with immunological responses in renal cell carcinoma patients treated with mRNA-based immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology* **5**, e1108511 (2016).
- 85. Da Silva Sanchez, A., Paunovska, K., Cristian, A. & Dahlman, J.E. Treating Cystic Fibrosis with mRNA and CRISPR. *Hum Gene Ther* **31**, 940-955 (2020).
- 86. Sahin, U., Kariko, K. & Tureci, O. mRNA-based therapeutics--developing a new class of drugs. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **13**, 759-780 (2014).
- 87. Paunovska, K., Loughrey, D. & Dahlman, J.E. Drug delivery systems for RNA therapeutics. *Nat Rev Genet* **23**, 265-280 (2022).
- Magadum, A., Kaur, K. & Zangi, L. mRNA-Based Protein Replacement Therapy for the Heart. *Mol Ther* 27, 785-793 (2019).
- 89. Vallazza, B. et al. Recombinant messenger RNA technology and its application in cancer immunotherapy, transcript replacement therapies, pluripotent stem cell induction, and beyond. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA* **6**, 471-499 (2015).
- Sahu, I., Haque, A., Weidensee, B., Weinmann, P. & Kormann, M.S.D. Recent Developments in mRNA-Based Protein Supplementation Therapy to Target Lung Diseases. *Mol Ther* 27, 803-823 (2019).

- 91. Kwon, H. et al. Emergence of synthetic mRNA: In vitro synthesis of mRNA and its applications in regenerative medicine. *Biomaterials* **156**, 172-193 (2018).
- 92. Wang, J., Lu, Z., Wientjes, M.G. & Au, J.L. Delivery of siRNA therapeutics: barriers and carriers. *AAPS J* **12**, 492-503 (2010).
- 93. Kleinman, M.E. et al. Sequence- and target-independent angiogenesis suppression by siRNA via TLR3. *Nature* **452**, 591-597 (2008).
- 94. Wan, W.B. & Seth, P.P. The Medicinal Chemistry of Therapeutic Oligonucleotides. *J Med Chem* **59**, 9645-9667 (2016).
- 95. Eckstein, F. Phosphorothioates, essential components of therapeutic oligonucleotides. *Nucleic Acid Ther* **24**, 374-387 (2014).
- 96. Yu, R.Z. et al. Cross-species pharmacokinetic comparison from mouse to man of a second-generation antisense oligonucleotide, ISIS 301012, targeting human apolipoprotein B-100. *Drug Metab Dispos* **35**, 460-468 (2007).
- Geselowitz, D.A. & Neckers, L.M. Bovine serum albumin is a major oligonucleotide-binding protein found on the surface of cultured cells. *Antisense Res Dev* 5, 213-217 (1995).
- 98. Sawai, K., Mahato, R.I., Oka, Y., Takakura, Y. & Hashida, M. Disposition of oligonucleotides in isolated perfused rat kidney: involvement of scavenger receptors in their renal uptake. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **279**, 284-290 (1996).
- 99. Migawa, M.T. et al. Site-specific replacement of phosphorothioate with alkyl phosphonate linkages enhances the therapeutic profile of gapmer ASOs by modulating interactions with cellular proteins. *Nucleic Acids Res* **47**, 5465-5479 (2019).
- 100. Shen, W. et al. Chemical modification of PS-ASO therapeutics reduces cellular protein-binding and improves the therapeutic index. *Nat Biotechnol* **37**, 640-650 (2019).
- Huang, Y. et al. Elimination pathways of systemically delivered siRNA. *Mol Ther* 19, 381-385 (2011).
- 102. Huang, Y. et al. Pharmacokinetic Behaviors of Intravenously Administered siRNA in Glandular Tissues. *Theranostics* **6**, 1528-1541 (2016).
- 103. Shen, X. & Corey, D.R. Chemistry, mechanism and clinical status of antisense oligonucleotides and duplex RNAs. *Nucleic Acids Res* **46**, 1584-1600 (2018).

- 104. Monia, B.P. et al. Evaluation of 2'-modified oligonucleotides containing 2'-deoxy gaps as antisense inhibitors of gene expression. *J Biol Chem* 268, 14514-14522 (1993).
- Robbins, M. et al. 2'-O-methyl-modified RNAs act as TLR7 antagonists. *Mol Ther* 15, 1663-1669 (2007).
- 106. Inoue, H. et al. Synthesis and hybridization studies on two complementary nona(2'-O-methyl)ribonucleotides. *Nucleic Acids Res* **15**, 6131-6148 (1987).
- 107. Karikó, K. et al. Incorporation of pseudouridine into mRNA yields superior nonimmunogenic vector with increased translational capacity and biological stability. *Mol Ther* 16, 1833-1840 (2008).
- Anderson, B.R. et al. Nucleoside modifications in RNA limit activation of 2'-5'oligoadenylate synthetase and increase resistance to cleavage by RNase L. *Nucleic Acids Res* 39, 9329-9338 (2011).
- 109. Valenzuela, R.A. et al. Base modification strategies to modulate immune stimulation by an siRNA. *Chembiochem* **16**, 262-267 (2015).
- 110. Zhang, J. et al. Modification of the siRNA passenger strand by 5-nitroindole dramatically reduces its off-target effects. *Chembiochem* **13**, 1940-1945 (2012).
- 111. Hu, B. et al. Therapeutic siRNA: state of the art. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* **5**, 101 (2020).
- 112. Kristen, A.V. et al. Patisiran, an RNAi therapeutic for the treatment of hereditary transthyretin-mediated amyloidosis. *Neurodegener Dis Manag* **9**, 5-23 (2019).
- 113. Scott, L.J. Givosiran: First Approval. Drugs 80, 335-339 (2020).
- 114. Scott, L.J. & Keam, S.J. Lumasiran: First Approval. Drugs 81, 277-282 (2021).
- 115. Ray, K.K. et al. Two Phase 3 Trials of Inclisiran in Patients with Elevated LDL Cholesterol. *N Engl J Med* **382**, 1507-1519 (2020).
- 116. Mullard, A. FDA approves fifth RNAi drug Alnylam's next-gen hATTR treatment. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **21**, 548-549 (2022).
- 117. Ahn, I., Kang, C.S. & Han, J. Where should siRNAs go: applicable organs for siRNA drugs. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine* **55**, 1283-1292 (2023).
- 118. Akinc, A. et al. Targeted delivery of RNAi therapeutics with endogenous and exogenous ligand-based mechanisms. *Mol Ther* **18**, 1357-1364 (2010).

- Nair, J.K. et al. Multivalent N-acetylgalactosamine-conjugated siRNA localizes in hepatocytes and elicits robust RNAi-mediated gene silencing. *J Am Chem Soc* 136, 16958-16961 (2014).
- 120. Daniels, T.R., Delgado, T., Helguera, G. & Penichet, M.L. The transferrin receptor part II: targeted delivery of therapeutic agents into cancer cells. *Clin Immunol* **121**, 159-176 (2006).
- 121. Deprey, K., Batistatou, N. & Kritzer, J.A. A critical analysis of methods used to investigate the cellular uptake and subcellular localization of RNA therapeutics. *Nucleic Acids Res* **48**, 7623-7639 (2020).
- 122. Sato, Y. et al. Highly specific delivery of siRNA to hepatocytes circumvents endothelial cell-mediated lipid nanoparticle-associated toxicity leading to the safe and efficacious decrease in the hepatitis B virus. *J Control Release* **266**, 216-225 (2017).
- 123. Springer, A.D. & Dowdy, S.F. GalNAc-siRNA Conjugates: Leading the Way for Delivery of RNAi Therapeutics. *Nucleic Acid Ther* **28**, 109-118 (2018).
- 124. Hu, Y.B., Dammer, E.B., Ren, R.J. & Wang, G. The endosomal-lysosomal system: from acidification and cargo sorting to neurodegeneration. *Transl Neurodegener* **4**, 18 (2015).
- 125. Thurston, T.L., Wandel, M.P., von Muhlinen, N., Foeglein, A. & Randow, F. Galectin 8 targets damaged vesicles for autophagy to defend cells against bacterial invasion. *Nature* 482, 414-418 (2012).
- 126. Wittrup, A. et al. Visualizing lipid-formulated siRNA release from endosomes and target gene knockdown. *Nat Biotechnol* **33**, 870-876 (2015).
- Skowyra, M.L., Schlesinger, P.H., Naismith, T.V. & Hanson, P.I. Triggered recruitment of ESCRT machinery promotes endolysosomal repair. *Science* 360 (2018).
- 128. Bussi, C. et al. Stress granules plug and stabilize damaged endolysosomal membranes. *Nature* (2023).
- 129. Hajj, K.A. & Whitehead, K.A. Tools for translation: non-viral materials for therapeutic mRNA delivery. *Nature Reviews Materials* **2**, 17056 (2017).
- 130. Tenchov, R., Bird, R., Curtze, A.E. & Zhou, Q. Lipid Nanoparticles horizontal line From Liposomes to mRNA Vaccine Delivery, a Landscape of Research Diversity and Advancement. ACS Nano 15, 16982-17015 (2021).

- 131. Spadea, A. et al. Nucleic Acid-Loaded Lipid Nanoparticle Interactions with Model Endosomal Membranes. *ACS Appl Mater Interfaces* **14**, 30371-30384 (2022).
- 132. Patel, S. et al. Naturally-occurring cholesterol analogues in lipid nanoparticles induce polymorphic shape and enhance intracellular delivery of mRNA. *Nat Commun* **11**, 983 (2020).
- Paunovska, K. et al. Nanoparticles Containing Oxidized Cholesterol Deliver mRNA to the Liver Microenvironment at Clinically Relevant Doses. *Adv Mater* 31, e1807748 (2019).
- 134. Hald Albertsen, C. et al. The role of lipid components in lipid nanoparticles for vaccines and gene therapy. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* **188**, 114416 (2022).
- 135. Bernhard, C. et al. Repelling and ordering: the influence of poly(ethylene glycol) on protein adsorption. *Phys Chem Chem Phys* **19**, 28182-28188 (2017).
- 136. Tang, Y. et al. Overcoming the Reticuloendothelial System Barrier to Drug Delivery with a "Don't-Eat-Us" Strategy. *ACS Nano* **13**, 13015-13026 (2019).
- Suzuki, T. et al. PEG shedding-rate-dependent blood clearance of PEGylated lipid nanoparticles in mice: Faster PEG shedding attenuates anti-PEG IgM production. *Int J Pharm* 588, 119792 (2020).
- Judge, A., McClintock, K., Phelps, J.R. & Maclachlan, I. Hypersensitivity and loss of disease site targeting caused by antibody responses to PEGylated liposomes. *Mol Ther* 13, 328-337 (2006).
- 139. Cheng, X. & Lee, R.J. The role of helper lipids in lipid nanoparticles (LNPs) designed for oligonucleotide delivery. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* **99**, 129-137 (2016).
- Maeki, M., Uno, S., Niwa, A., Okada, Y. & Tokeshi, M. Microfluidic technologies and devices for lipid nanoparticle-based RNA delivery. *J Control Release* 344, 80-96 (2022).
- Hafez, I.M., Maurer, N. & Cullis, P.R. On the mechanism whereby cationic lipids promote intracellular delivery of polynucleic acids. *Gene Ther* 8, 1188-1196 (2001).
- 142. Aliakbarinodehi, N. et al. Interaction Kinetics of Individual mRNA-Containing Lipid Nanoparticles with an Endosomal Membrane Mimic: Dependence on pH, Protein Corona Formation, and Lipoprotein Depletion. ACS Nano 16, 20163-20173 (2022).

- Gilleron, J. et al. Image-based analysis of lipid nanoparticle-mediated siRNA delivery, intracellular trafficking and endosomal escape. *Nat Biotechnol* 31, 638-646 (2013).
- 144. Paz, I. et al. Galectin-3, a marker for vacuole lysis by invasive pathogens. *Cell Microbiol* **12**, 530-544 (2010).
- 145. Sahay, G. et al. Efficiency of siRNA delivery by lipid nanoparticles is limited by endocytic recycling. *Nat Biotechnol* **31**, 653-658 (2013).
- Sayers, E.J. et al. Endocytic Profiling of Cancer Cell Models Reveals Critical Factors Influencing LNP-Mediated mRNA Delivery and Protein Expression. *Mol Ther* 27, 1950-1962 (2019).
- Maugeri, M. et al. Linkage between endosomal escape of LNP-mRNA and loading into EVs for transport to other cells. *Nature Communications* 10, 4333 (2019).
- 148. Paramasivam, P. et al. Endosomal escape of delivered mRNA from endosomal recycling tubules visualized at the nanoscale. *J Cell Biol* **221** (2022).
- 149. Jeong, J.H., Mok, H., Oh, Y.K. & Park, T.G. siRNA conjugate delivery systems. *Bioconjug Chem* 20, 5-14 (2009).
- 150. Roberts, T.C., Langer, R. & Wood, M.J.A. Advances in oligonucleotide drug delivery. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **19**, 673-694 (2020).
- 151. Soutschek, J. et al. Therapeutic silencing of an endogenous gene by systemic administration of modified siRNAs. *Nature* **432**, 173-178 (2004).
- 152. Khan, T. et al. Silencing Myostatin Using Cholesterol-conjugated siRNAs Induces Muscle Growth. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* **5**, e342 (2016).
- 153. van Meer, G. & de Kroon, A.I. Lipid map of the mammalian cell. *J Cell Sci* **124**, 5-8 (2011).
- 154. Razin, S. Cholesterol incorporation into bacterial membranes. *J Bacteriol* **124**, 570-572 (1975).
- Gaibelet, G. et al. Specific cellular incorporation of a pyrene-labelled cholesterol: lipoprotein-mediated delivery toward ordered intracellular membranes. *PLoS One* 10, e0121563 (2015).
- 156. Ly, S. et al. Visualization of self-delivering hydrophobically modified siRNA cellular internalization. *Nucleic Acids Res* **45**, 15-25 (2017).

- 157. Gilleron, J. et al. Identification of siRNA delivery enhancers by a chemical library screen. *Nucleic Acids Res* **43**, 7984-8001 (2015).
- 158. Maxfield, F.R. Weak bases and ionophores rapidly and reversibly raise the pH of endocytic vesicles in cultured mouse fibroblasts. *J Cell Biol* **95**, 676-681 (1982).
- 159. Gilboa-Geffen, A. et al. Gene Knockdown by EpCAM Aptamer-siRNA Chimeras Suppresses Epithelial Breast Cancers and Their Tumor-Initiating Cells. *Mol Cancer Ther* 14, 2279-2291 (2015).
- McQuay, H.J. & Moore, R.A. Dose-response in direct comparisons of different doses of aspirin, ibuprofen and paracetamol (acetaminophen) in analgesic studies. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 63, 271-278 (2007).
- Méndez-Ardoy, A., Lostalé-Seijo, I. & Montenegro, J. Where in the Cell Is our Cargo? Methods Currently Used To Study Intracellular Cytosolic Localisation. *ChemBioChem* 20, 488-498 (2019).
- 162. FitzGerald, L.I. et al. A molecular sensor to quantify the localization of proteins, DNA and nanoparticles in cells. *Nat Commun* **11**, 4482 (2020).
- Schmidt, S. et al. Detecting Cytosolic Peptide Delivery with the GFP Complementation Assay in the Low Micromolar Range. *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl* 54, 15105-15108 (2015).
- 164. Wissner, R.F., Steinauer, A., Knox, S.L., Thompson, A.D. & Schepartz, A. Fluorescence Correlation Spectroscopy Reveals Efficient Cytosolic Delivery of Protein Cargo by Cell-Permeant Miniature Proteins. ACS Cent Sci 4, 1379-1393 (2018).
- 165. Buntz, A. et al. Quantitative fluorescence imaging determines the absolute number of locked nucleic acid oligonucleotides needed for suppression of target gene expression. *Nucleic Acids Res* **47**, 953-969 (2019).
- 166. He, C. et al. High-resolution visualization and quantification of nucleic acid-based therapeutics in cells and tissues using Nanoscale secondary ion mass spectrometry (NanoSIMS). *Nucleic Acids Res* **49**, 1-14 (2021).
- 167. Veldhoen, S., Laufer, S.D., Trampe, A. & Restle, T. Cellular delivery of small interfering RNA by a non-covalently attached cell-penetrating peptide: quantitative analysis of uptake and biological effect. *Nucleic Acids Res* 34, 6561-6573 (2006).
- 168. Laufer, S.D., Recke, A.L., Veldhoen, S., Trampe, A. & Restle, T. Noncovalent peptide-mediated delivery of chemically modified steric block oligonucleotides

promotes splice correction: quantitative analysis of uptake and biological effect. *Oligonucleotides* **19**, 63-80 (2009).

- 169. Androvic, P., Valihrach, L., Elling, J., Sjoback, R. & Kubista, M. Two-tailed RTqPCR: a novel method for highly accurate miRNA quantification. *Nucleic Acids Res* **45**, e144 (2017).
- 170. Joris, F. et al. Repurposing cationic amphiphilic drugs as adjuvants to induce lysosomal siRNA escape in nanogel transfected cells. *J Control Release* **269**, 266-276 (2018).
- 171. Stalder, L. et al. The rough endoplasmatic reticulum is a central nucleation site of siRNA-mediated RNA silencing. *EMBO J* **32**, 1115-1127 (2013).
- 172. Yang, N.J. et al. Cytosolic delivery of siRNA by ultra-high affinity dsRNA binding proteins. *Nucleic Acids Res* **45**, 7602-7614 (2017).
- 173. Ferguson, C.M., Echeverria, D., Hassler, M., Ly, S. & Khvorova, A. Cell Type Impacts Accessibility of mRNA to Silencing by RNA Interference. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* 21, 384-393 (2020).
- 174. Bartlett, D.W. & Davis, M.E. Insights into the kinetics of siRNA-mediated gene silencing from live-cell and live-animal bioluminescent imaging. *Nucleic Acids Research* **34**, 322-333 (2006).
- 175. Hong, S.W., Jiang, Y., Kim, S., Li, C.J. & Lee, D.K. Target gene abundance contributes to the efficiency of siRNA-mediated gene silencing. *Nucleic Acid Ther* 24, 192-198 (2014).
- Vickers, T.A., Lima, W.F., Nichols, J.G. & Crooke, S.T. Reduced levels of Ago2 expression result in increased siRNA competition in mammalian cells. *Nucleic Acids Res* 35, 6598-6610 (2007).





Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:4: ISBN 978-91-8021-497-1 ISSN 1652-8220

